

National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect

# **Supervising Child Protective Services Caseworkers**

## The User Manual Series

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES Administration for Children and Families Administration on Children, Youth and Families National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect

#### U.S. Department of Justice National Institute of Justice

This document has been reproduced exactly as received from the person or organization originating it. Points of view or opinions stated in this document are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the National Institute of Justice.

| Permission to       | o rej | produce | this | Constants |    | material | has | been |
|---------------------|-------|---------|------|-----------|----|----------|-----|------|
| granted by<br>Publi | c     | Doma    | aiı  | n∕Ū.S     | 3. | Dep      | t.  | of   |
| Healt               | h     | and     | Hı   | uman      | S  | ervi     | ce  | S    |

to the National Criminal Justice Reference Service (NCJRS).

Further reproduction outside of the NCJRS system requires permission of the outside owner.

## Supervising Child Protective Services Caseworkers

Thomas D. Morton and Marsha K. Salus

#### 1994

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Administration for Children and Families Administration on Children, Youth and Families National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect

148607

148607

This manual, and other manuals in the series, are available from:

¢

The Clearinghouse on Child Abuse and Neglect Information P.O. Box 1182 Washington, D.C. 20013

This manual was developed and produced by Circle Solutions, Inc., McLean, VA., under subcontract No. HHS 105-89-1730 with Westover Consultants, Inc.

٠.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PAGE

| ATTRIBUTION  | viii |
|--|------|
| PREFACE  | ix   |
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS  | xi   |
| INTRODUCTION   | 1    |
| OVERVIEW OF THE MANUAL                                       | _    |
|  | 3    |
| THE NATURE OF CPS SUPERVISION                                | 5    |
| Building the Foundation for and Maintaining Unit Functioning | 5    |
| Developing and Maintaining Staff Capacity                    | 5    |
| Supportive Practices   | 6    |
| Delegating   | 6    |
| Monitoring Performance                                       | 6    |
| Providing Feedback   | - 6  |
| Supporting the Emotional Needs of Staff                      | 6    |
| Influencing Others   | 7    |
| Analyzing Problems   | 7    |
| Making Decisions   | 7    |
| Initiating Action  | 7    |
| Mediating and Negotiating                                    | 7    |
| Research on Leadership and Management Effectiveness          | 8    |
| The Components of Supervisory Effectiveness                  | 9    |
| SUPERVISORY INVOLVEMENT IN THE CPS PROCESS                   | 13   |
| Intake   | 13   |
| Investigation/Initial Assessment                             | 13   |

| Child and Family Assessment and Case Planning                    | 14 |
|--|----|
| Service Provision and Evaluation of Family Process               | 15 |
| Relationship with the Public and the Media                       | 16 |
| Protecting the Agency Against Liability                          | 16 |
| BUILDING THE FOUNDATION FOR EFFECTIVE UNIT FUNCTIONING           | 19 |
| Communicating the Agency's Missions and Goals of CPS             | 19 |
| Creating and Communicating a Vision for the Unit                 | 19 |
| Establishing a Positive Work Climate                             | 20 |
| Developing an Effective Work Team                                | 22 |
| Stages of Team/Group Development                                 | 22 |
| Assessing Team Functioning                                       | 23 |
| Establishing and Communicating Practice Standards                | 23 |
| BUILDING STAFF CAPACITY  | 25 |
| Performance Expectations of CPS Caseworkers                      | 25 |
| Stages of Caseworker Development                                 | 25 |
| The High Anxiety Stage   | 28 |
| Supervisory Interventions During the High Anxiety Stage          | 28 |
| The "Make It or Break It" Stage                                  | 29 |
| Supervisory Interventions During the "Make It or Break It" Stage | 29 |
| Basic Skills   | 30 |
| Supervisory Interventions During the Basic Skills Stage          | 30 |
| Stage of Relative Independence                                   | 31 |
| Supervisory Interventions in the Stage of Relative Independence  | 31 |
| Methods for Building Staff Capacity                              | 31 |
| Orientation  | 32 |
| Training   | 32 |
| Supervisory Teaching Methods                                     | 33 |
| One-to-One Teaching  | 33 |
| Brainstorming  | 33 |
|  |    |

| Modeling  | 34 |
|---|----|
| Role Play   | 34 |
| Coaching  | 35 |
| Guided Reflection   | 36 |
| Group Supervision   | 36 |
| MONITORING CASEWORK PERFORMANCE, ACHIEVEMENT OF CLIENT OUTCOMES, AND UNIT PERFORMANCE | 39 |
| Monitoring Key Casework Activities and Outcomes                                       | 39 |
| Key Casework Activities and Outcomes  | 39 |
| How to Collect Data   | 41 |
| How Often to Collect Data   | 41 |
| Creating a System for Tracking/Monitoring Efforts                                     | 41 |
| Monitoring the Qualitative Aspects of Casework Practice                               | 42 |
| Observation of Caseworker-Client Contact  | 42 |
| Review of Records   | 42 |
| Discussion with Caseworkers   | 42 |
| Monitoring Performance on the Unit Level  | 42 |
| Key Indicators  | 43 |
| RECOGNITION OF PERFORMANCE  | 45 |
| Providing Effective Feedback  | 45 |
| Evaluative and Developmental Feedback   | 45 |
| Evaluative Feedback   | 45 |
| Developmental Feedback  | 45 |
| Criteria for Effective Feedback   | 46 |
| Conditions for Effective Feedback   | 46 |
| Supervisory Effectiveness in Providing Feedback                                       | 47 |
| Past Experiences with Feedback  | 47 |
| Attitudes and Beliefs about Feedback  | 47 |
| Need To Be Liked and Accepted by Others   | 47 |
| Comfort with Managing Conflict  | 47 |

v

| Recognizing Performance                             | 47 |
|---|----|
| DEALING WITH PERFORMANCE PROBLEMS                   | 49 |
| Analyzing Performance Problems                      | 49 |
| Coaching for Improved Work Performance              | 51 |
| Dealing with Caseworker Resistance                  | 52 |
| INCREASING JOB SATISFACTION AND PREVENTING BURNOUT  | 55 |
| Factors Contributing to Job Satisfaction            | 55 |
| Achievement   | 55 |
| Recognition   | 55 |
| Challenging Work                                    | 56 |
| Responsibility                                      | 56 |
| Growth and Development                              | 57 |
| Preventing Burnout                                  | 57 |
| Emotional Exhaustion                                | 57 |
| Depersonalization                                   | 57 |
| Reduced Personal Accomplishments                    | 58 |
| Causes of Burnout                                   | 58 |
| Signs and Symptoms of Burnout                       | 58 |
| Feelings Associated with Burnout                    | 59 |
| Behaviors Associated with Burnout                   | 59 |
| Agency's Role in Preventing Burnout                 | 60 |
| Supervisor's Role in Preventing Burnout             | 60 |
| MAKING THE TRANSITION FROM CASEWORKER TO SUPERVISOR | 63 |
| Relationships Prior to Transition                   | 63 |
| Lack of Experience in CPS                           | 65 |
| Additional Factors                                  | 65 |
| MANAGEMENT, TRAINING, AND SUPPORT                   | 67 |
| Training  | 67 |
| Management  | 67 |

vi

| Stress    | s Management  | 67 |
|-----------|---|----|
| F         | Recognizing Internal Symptoms of Stress             | 68 |
| F         | Proactive Approach to Stress Management             | 68 |
| SUMMARY   |   | 71 |
| APPENDIX  | Α   | 73 |
| NOTES     |   | 75 |
| GLOSSARY  | OF TERMS  | 77 |
| SELECTED  | BIBLIOGRAPHY  | 81 |
| OTHER RES | SOURCES   | 85 |
|           | LIST OF CHARTS                                      |    |
| CHART 1.  | <b>Climate Components and Supervisory Practices</b> | 21 |
| CHART 2.  | Sample Performance Expectations for CPS Caseworkers | 26 |

| CHART 3. | Critical Casework Activities and Outcomes | 40 |
|----------|---|----|
|          |   | 10 |

## **ATTRIBUTION**

The Department of Health and Human Services acknowledges the contribution of Julius R. Ballew, Marsha K. Salus, and Sheila Winett, who were the authors of *Supervising Child Protective Workers*, August 1979.

### PREFACE

The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act was signed into law in 1974. Since that time, the Federal Government has served as a catalyst to mobilize society's social service, mental health, medical, education, legal, and law enforcement resources to address the challenges in the prevention and treatment of child abuse and neglect. In 1977, in one of its earliest efforts, the National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect (NCCAN) developed 21 manuals (the *User Manual Series*) designed to provide guidance to professionals involved in the child protection system and to enhance community collaboration and the quality of services provided to children and families. Some manuals described professional roles and responsibilities in the prevention, identification, and treatment of child maltreatment. Other manuals in the series addressed special topics, for example, adolescent abuse and neglect.

Our understanding of the complex problems of child abuse and neglect has increased dramatically since the user manuals were developed. This increased knowledge has improved our ability to intervene effectively in the lives of troubled families. For example, it was not until the early 1980's that sexual abuse became a major focus in child maltreatment research and treatment. Likewise, we have a better grasp of what we can do to prevent child abuse and neglect from occurring. Furthermore, our knowledge of the unique roles key professionals can play in child protection has been defined more clearly, and a great deal has been learned about how to enhance coordination and collaboration of community agencies and professionals. Currently, we are facing new and more series problems in families who maltreat their children. For example, there is a significant percentage of substance abuse in families known to Child Protective Services (CPS) who are experiencing substance abuse problems; the first reference to drug-exposed infants appeared in the literature in 1985.

Because our knowledge base has increased significantly and the state-of-the-art of practice has improved considerably, NCCAN has updated the *User Manual Series* by revising many of the existing manuals and creating new manuals that address current innovations, concerns, and issues in the prevention and treatment of child maltreatment. The User Manuals offer a distillation of the current knowledge base in the field of child maltreatment, but cannot cover all topics completely. These manuals should not serve as substitutes for a thorough familiarity with professional standards of practice.

This manual, *Supervising Child Protective Services Caseworkers*, provides the foundation for supervisory practice in CPS. It describes the roles and responsibilities of the CPS supervisor, and it provides practice-oriented advice on how to carry out supervisory responsibilities. This manual is designed primarily for CPS supervisors and administrators. However, because it describes basic supervisory practice, it is relevant to all child welfare supervisors. It may also be useful to child welfare agency staff who provide training for supervisory presonnel and to schools of social work as they prepare new social workers for the child welfare field.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thomas D. Morton, M.S.W., is founder and Executive Director of the Child Welfare Institute (CWI), a specialized nonprofit training and development organization serving child welfare agencies throughout the United States. During his 22-year career in children and youth services, he has served as a caseworker, program planner, community organizer, trainer, professor in social work education and director of training and continuing educations programs. In the 9 years since its founding, CWI has become the third most recognized national training organization in the child welfare field. Mr. Morton's work in adoption of children with special needs has included the development of the "Adoption of Children with Special Needs Training Curriculum" as part of the implementation of the 1980 Adoption Opportunities Act. He is also the author of several practice publications on aspects of parent preparation and selection.

Marsha K. Salus, A.C.S.W., is a social work consultant who has worked in the field of child abuse and neglect for over 15 years. Ms. Salus began her career as a child protective services caseworker and supervisor. She has developed numerous national curricula for professionals involved in the identification, prevention, and treatment of child abuse and neglect. Ms. Salus has delivered training in all aspects of child protection to professionals around the world and has written numerous manuals and pamphlets on child welfare topics.

The following were members of the Advisory Panel for Contract No. HHS-105-89-1730:

Nainan Thomas, Ph.D. Child Welfare Division Prince George's County Department of Social Services Hyattsville, MD

Shirley Davis Child Development and Family Guidance Center St. Petersburg, FL

Michael Nunno Family Life Development Center Ithaca, NY

Peter Correia University of Oklahoma Tulsa, OK

Howard Davidson American Bar Association Washington, DC

Anthony Urquiza University of California Sacramento, CA Janet Hutchinson University of Pittsburgh Pittsburgh, PA

Judee Filip National Resource Center Child Abuse & Neglect Denver, CO

John Holton Greater Chicago Council for the National Committee for the Prevention of Child Abuse Chicago, IL

Sandra Hodge Department of Human Services Augusta, ME

Marsha K. Salus Chair, User Manual Advisory Panel Alexandria, VA

### INTRODUCTION

Supervisors in child protection face a number of current challenges. In some instances, practice and policy development lag behind issues in the field. Though many agencies have adopted risk assessment models/instruments, valid measures for predicating a child's safety remain elusive. Meanwhile, communities show increasing intolerance when agency actions fail to protect children. The number of children in foster care keeps rising (242,000 in 1982 to over 400,000 in 1991), and pressures grow to preserve families.<sup>1</sup>

Expectations of agency performance increase, while resources remain level or decline in most states. Although States are moving toward better training for new staff, many still lack a comprehensive approach to training. Very few States require prior education specific to child welfare as a condition for employment. Consequently, supervisors may well continue to experience high staff turnover, delays in filling vacancies, and new employees with little preparation for the job.

As the investigatory function of child protective services (CPS) increases, some professionals are calling for the separation of the investigation role from the intervention role, giving the former to law enforcement and latter to child welfare agencies. Such an approach would help reduce the inherent difficulties CPS staff face in carrying out both roles with families; that is, gathering information for possible court action while attempting to develop a therapeutic relationship. It is unlikely, however, that most agencies will be able to implement the separation of these two roles in the near future.

On the positive side, there is greater advocacy for children at the national and local levels than ever before. Research is helping agencies improve their intervention strategies with children and families. More is known about the skills and resources needed for success in the supervisory role. Furthermore, the supervisor has many more tools available today to support staff and make a difference in the lives of children and families.

## **OVERVIEW OF THE MANUAL**

Most CPS supervisors began their career as caseworkers before being promoted to a supervisory position. The belief among child welfare agency administrators generally is that if a person is a "good" caseworker, he/she will be a "good" supervisor. Consequently, most CPS supervisors move into their position with little advance training, guidance, or support. The transition from caseworker to supervisor is not an easy one. As caseworkers, they provided direct casework services to clients, and as supervisors they get the work done through their staff. What caseworkers take with them into the supervisory position are good sound practice knowledge, effective interpersonal skills, the ability to engage others in a working relationship, and the respect of coworkers. The remaining supervisory knowledge and skills must be learned. The knowledge and skills necessary for CPS supervision are learned more readily in agencies that have clear policies, procedures, and performance expectations.

CPS supervisors are responsible for ensuring that the agency mission and CPS goals are accomplished and that positive outcomes for children and families are achieved through the delivery of competent, sensitive, and timely services. Supervisors play a critical role in ensuring that children reported to CPS are protected from harm, that the children receive the necessary services to ameliorate the effects of the harm they have suffered, that families receive the necessary services to reduce/eliminate the risk of maltreatment occurring in the future, and that clients are treated with respect and dignity with their rights to self determination and confidentiality assured.

This manual provides the foundation on which effective CPS supervision is based. The manual:

- provides a conceptual framework for supervisory practice;
- provides a description of the roles and responsibilities of the supervisor in achieving the agency mission and goals of CPS;
- offers practice-oriented advice on how to carry out supervisory responsibilities;
- offers guidance in developing a foundation for productive unit functioning;
- provides information on how to build and assess staff capacity;
- discusses techniques for monitoring practice on the case, caseload, and unit levels;
- provides strategies for recognizing staff performance;
- provides a conceptual framework for analyzing and responding to performance problems; and
- describes strategies for increasing job satisfaction/motivation and preventing burnout.

## THE NATURE OF CPS SUPERVISION

The primary function of the CPS supervisor is to enable casework staff to meet the needs of families and fulfill the mission of the agency. The supervisor is the link between the front line of service delivery and upper levels of administration. The supervisor brings the resources of the organization into action at the front line, the point of client contact. Simultaneously, the supervisor communicates information from the unit to upper management, which enables agency administrators to plan and allocate resources.

The CPS supervisor has two overarching roles—building the foundation for and maintaining unit effectiveness and developing and maintaining individual staff capacity.

#### **BUILDING THE FOUNDATION FOR AND MAINTAINING UNIT FUNCTIONING**

First, the supervisor is the person through whom the agency's mission, policies guiding service delivery, and practice guidelines are communicated to casework staff. Clarity in communication from administrators to supervisors and from supervisors to staff guides unit and individual caseworker performance.

Second, supervisors ensure that all relevant laws and policies are followed, and they maintain the standards of performance for the unit. Through their actions, CPS supervisors directly influence the nature of unit and individual staff performance. How quickly supervisors intervene to deal with problems and the pace at which they pursue solutions are important cues about their concern for results. Unit performance takes its cue from the personal performance standards of the supervisor. Most supervisors say they want results. Not all know how to get results.

Third, in large measure, supervisors set the tone for their unit. The supervisor needs to take the necessary action to establish a positive work climate. A work climate is viewed as positive when staff feel their needs are being met in the workplace and display motivation in accomplishing their tasks.

#### DEVELOPING AND MAINTAINING STAFF CAPACITY

Historically, supervisors have been the primary resource for developing the knowledge and skills of CPS caseworkers. In the past few years, several States have recognized that supervisors do not have sufficient time or resources to adequately or consistently develop the basic skills staff need for practice. Consequently, these States have developed extensive training programs for newly hired staff, and the supervisor's role has shifted more to coaching and aiding the transfer of learning to the job situation. In most States, however, preservice training is not sufficient to prepare caseworkers for the job, or training occurs months after hiring. This situation leaves the supervisor with the responsibility for developing the core CPS skills of caseworkers. As the caseworker develops the expertise to perform the required CPS tasks and activities, the supervisor sor lessens the amount of direction and guidance and provides increasing autonomy.

The amount of autonomy the supervisor delegates to the caseworker depends on the demonstrated skill level of the caseworker, his/her judgment, and problem-solving and decision-making abilities. Less experienced caseworkers require greater guidance, help with decisions, and more detail in case assignments. However, it is the supervisor's role to create the capacity for greater autonomy. If dependence on the supervisor persists, it may reflect the need to communicate more confidence in the caseworker's abilities. Given the critical

nature of CPS decisions, many casework actions and decisions are made in consultation between the supervisor and caseworker. For the experienced caseworker, this consultation should emphasize review, feedback, and coaching as needed, rather than direct decision making by the supervisor.

#### SUPPORTIVE PRACTICES

There are a number of supervisory practices that assist in building and maintaining staff capacity and in establishing the foundation for unit performance. These practices include delegating, monitoring performance, giving feedback, supporting the emotional needs of staff, influencing others, analyzing problems, making decisions, initiating action, and mediating.

#### Delegating

The major forms of delegation in child welfare supervision are assigning cases and delineating the role of the caseworker and the supervisor on each case. When assigning cases, the supervisor must clarify several expectations for the worker. For example, what actions or responses are required immediately by the caseworker? What information must be gathered for decisions about next steps? What decisions should the caseworker make independently, and what decisions should be made in consultation with the supervisor? What are the roles of other agency staff and other community agencies in responding to the immediate needs of the case? What are the time frames within which action must be taken? What information will the supervisor require from the caseworker after actions have been completed?

Other information may be necessary for the caseworker to respond to the needs of the family. Often, supervisors have information about the history of the family that may not yet be documented in the case record or in the report to CPS. This information should be given along with the case assignment.

#### **Monitoring Performance**

A critical supervisory practice is the monitoring of achievement of case outcomes and activities by individual caseworkers and by the unit as a whole. Monitoring is necessary so that the supervisor can intervene to redirect practice when current methods and procedures are not achieving the overall results the agency seeks. Further, monitoring enables the supervisor to recognize and encourage successful performance.

#### **Providing Feedback**

When supervisors provide feedback to their staff they are communicating that performance matters. An absence of feedback suggests just the opposite. Effective feedback generally enhances staff security because they know how they are doing, what needs to be changed, and the extent to which their efforts and results are appreciated. Feedback helps staff develop by providing information about results and the actions that caused those results. In addition, feedback is important to feelings of self-worth and contributes to communication, trust, and warmth in the unit.

#### Supporting the Emotional Needs of Staff

Another critical role of supervision involves recognizing and responding to the needs and concerns of staff. This element of supervisory responsibility can be challenging. Staff may identify many needs that cannot be met or that must be balanced with other needs and limited resources.

Recognizing the needs of staff and providing emotional support involves empathy more than identification. Staff want to know that their needs are heard and understood. Although feelings are a legitimate part of business in any organization, the emotional nature of child protection work makes the expression and acceptance of feelings even more important.

#### **Influencing Others**

Supervisory authority and influence facilitate individual accomplishment of performance expectations and encourage unit achievement of CPS goals. Supervisors are also influential links to upper management, other units in the agency, and the community. The degree to which supervisors are able to influence others affects the availability of agency and community resources for the unit. The supervisor's ability to verbally persuade, cooperate with, and support others is critical in influencing others.

#### **Analyzing Problems**

By design, supervisors are positioned a step back from the front line. This perspective permits a broader view of issues affecting practice. Much of the supervisor's time is spent dealing with aspects of the caseworker's intervention with families. For many supervisors, this means assisting the caseworker in assessing families' needs and formulating service/treatment plans. Of equal importance is the interaction of the caseworker with individual clients. Analysis of problems and needs in intervention must include the dynamics of the caseworker's actions with each family member/client.

Like the caseworker, the supervisor is the trustee of the agency's mission to help the child and family. Therefore, when caseworker-client conflict occurs, the supervisor must consider the needs of all concerned — the caseworker, the client, and the family as a unit.

#### Making Decisions

Decision making is often seen as an internal cognitive process. It is also a social process. Supervisors determine who will have input into decisions and the balance between unilateral action and group consensus. A balance must be struck between the need for staff to view the supervisor as a decisive leader, who is able to make decisions with some assertiveness and their need for inclusion and participation. Individual staff vary on these needs. Some staff members may criticize the supervisor for not making more decisions, others for making too many. In any group, it is difficult to accommodate all levels of need. Even so, it is important to respond to staff in a way that addresses each individual's underlying security and autonomy needs.

#### **Initiating Action**

Once case problems are assessed and decisions made, something must be done. An important function of supervision is the initiation of action. This initiation begins with delegation of responsibility, communication of expectations and information, and provision of structure in task organization. Direct supervision requires a certain amount of personal involvement, a "hands on" approach. It is important to remember, however, that the primary role of the supervisor is to influence the work of others, not to do the job directly. Supervisors with a high need for control may find it difficult to delegate authority or form partnerships with caseworkers. Such practices tend to limit staff growth and reinforce dependency (often justifying the supervisor's need for more direct case involvement).

#### Mediating and Negotiating

A critical role of the supervisor involves mediation and negotiation between often conflicting needs and goals of agency divisions and units. Conflict is inherent in any activity involving two or more individuals. Within an agency, staff may use different methods, have different objectives, or perceive situations differently. Mediating such differences and building commitment to common agency goals are essential to teamwork.

In mediation, the foremost role of supervision is to acknowledge and accommodate the needs of line staff and those of upper administration. Many supervisors feel caught in the middle. They may be uncomfortable with

conflict or require strong identification with one group or the other for their personal security. In such instances, supervisors are less likely to experience satisfaction and success in the supervisory role. Supervisors must feel comfortable representing the needs of both groups.

Two other mediational roles are important for successful supervision. One is between units and divisions of the agency. Supervisors are usually the negotiators of internal agency policies and procedures. The second is between staff. Interpersonal conflicts in the unit often require the direct intervention of a supervisor. This intervention focuses on the interfactional aspects of the conflict that could affect performance rather than on the personal styles of the staff members.

#### **RESEARCH ON LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT EFFECTIVENESS**

Because supervisors are the leaders/managers of their unit, it is helpful to understand what makes an effective leader. Leadership is often defined as influencing others to pursue or achieve a common goal. Supervision involves leadership, but leadership does not always involve supervision. One of the possible distinctions between supervision and leadership is that leaders influence others by changing basic values, assumptions, and beliefs. Supervisors apply professional values and beliefs to shape the performance of subordinate workers. Both leadership and supervision have been the focus of much discussion and research.

What does leadership mean in the context of CPS supervision? It is safe to say that not all caseworkers who work in child protection share the basic beliefs of the field. In some instances, supervisors must build the beliefs and values of unit members. The supervisor's responsibilities might be less complex if these issues could be sorted out during the hiring process. Interviews, however, tend to emphasize verbal expression of ideas whereas behavior is the most reliable indicator of true beliefs.

Much of the early research on leadership effectiveness focused on the identification of personality traits or characteristics essential for effective leadership. Qualities, such as physical energy, friendliness, and intelligence were thought to be associated with effectiveness. Research findings, however, suggest that there are no traits or qualities that can reliably be used to discriminate effective from less effective leaders.

Small group researchers, such as Dorwin Cartwright and Alvin Zander, made significant contributions to the advancement of the understanding of small group performance and the contributions of leadership. These investigators believed that there are two basic leadership issues—the achievement of a specific group goal and the maintenance or strengthening of the group itself.<sup>2</sup> For supervisors of CPS units, both issues are important.

Later studies at Ohio State University examined two dimensions of leadership behavior. Initiating structure refers to "the leader's behavior in delineating the relationship between him/herself and members of the work group and in endeavoring to establish well-defined patterns of organization, channels of communication, and methods of procedure." <sup>3</sup> Consideration refers to "behavior indicative of friendship, mutual trust, respect, and warmth in the relationship between the leader and members of her staff."<sup>4</sup> One of the major contributions of this research was the finding that initiating structure and consideration were two separate and distinct dimensions, rather than parts of a continuum. For example, a supervisor can apply both of these elements by being firm about getting results in a case, and at the same time, being supportive of a caseworker's frustration or feelings of inadequacy.

Building on these earlier studies, Rensis Likert found that "supervisors with the best records of performance focus their primary attention on the human aspects of their subordinates' problems and on endeavoring to build effective work groups with high performance goals."<sup>5</sup> He also found that high-producing supervisors make objectives clear and give their employees freedom to do the job.

Although Likert's studies suggested that employee-centered supervisors' units performed better than the units of job-centered supervisors, the findings were not universal. Some employee-centered supervisors had low-producing units, and some job-centered supervisors had high-producing units. This apparent contradiction suggested that there might be other intervening variables.

Subsequently, Paul Hersey and Kenneth H. Blanchard developed a three-dimensional model for understanding leadership effectiveness. The first two dimensions pertain to the leader's behavior.

- **Task behavior**: The extent to which leaders are likely to organize and define the roles of members of their group (followers) and to explain the activities each is responsible for and when, where, and how the tasks are to be accomplished. Task behavior is characterized by establishing well-defined patterns of organization, channels of communication, and ways of getting tasks accomplished.
- **Relationship behavior**: The extent to which leaders are likely to maintain personal relationships between themselves and members of their group (followers) by opening up channels of communication, providing socioemotional support, "psychological strokes," and facilitating behaviors.<sup>6</sup>

The third dimension of leadership effectiveness takes into account the characteristics of the situation, such as the group's perception of the leader's behaviors. According to Hersey and Blanchard, effectiveness of a leader's style is affected by the situation. For example, a supervisor who relies on a high-task and low-relationship approach may be seen as having well-defined methods and goals. Alternatively, the supervisor may be seen as imposing his/her methods on others, interested only in short-term goals, or unconcerned about the needs of the staff.

Hersey and Blanchard identify a number of other environmental variables that affect the leadership situation. These include the leader's style and expectations, followers' styles and expectations, superiors' styles and expectations, associates' styles and expectations, the organization's style and expectations, and the nature of job demands.

The interaction of all the variables influences effectiveness in a given situation. For example, a supervisor's staff may be very different from the supervisor in work habits, values, and expectations. In this situation, the nature of leadership will differ from one in which many similarities exist between the supervisor and caseworkers.

## THE COMPONENTS OF SUPERVISORY EFFECTIVENESS<sup>7</sup>

Research by James Mahoney and Thomas Rand suggest that there are seven core components of supervisory and management effectiveness. These are:

- Communication. This refers to the behavioral emphasis the supervisor places on assuring that expectations are clear and on providing and sharing information needed by staff to perform well and to feel secure as a member of the unit.
- Control. This refers to the behavioral emphasis the supervisor places on systematically monitoring progress toward completion of assigned tasks and attainment of goals.
- Feedback. This refers to the behavioral emphasis the supervisor places on letting staff know how well their performance matches with expectations. It includes the use of both positive and negative as well as evaluative and developmental feedback.

- Supervisory focus. This refers to the supervisor's comfort with four core aspects of the role of supervision. The first is comfort with mutual dependence or the idea of accomplishing goals through others. The second is comfort with power and influence. The third is comfort with the "glass bubble," (i.e., the visibility of the role). The fourth is comfort with conflict.
- **Production**. This refers to the supervisor's behavioral emphasis on setting and maintaining high standards of performance and personally demonstrating a sense of urgency about results. It also reflects the concern for excellence modeled by the supervisor's own approach to work.
- **People**. This refers to the behavioral emphasis the supervisor places on letting staff know that he/she is in touch with their needs and feelings related to the job. It also reflects the supervisor's need to be liked and accepted.
- **Coaching**. This refers to the behavioral emphasis and concern the supervisor demonstrates toward the professional growth and development of the caseworker.

The seven components of supervisory effectiveness are independent. That is, placing a high emphasis on one component does not necessarily mean that a high or low emphasis is placed on another component. For example, a high degree of emphasis on production (setting high standards and modeling excellence) does not necessarily imply a low emphasis on people (demonstrating a concern for caseworkers). Moreover, because these are measures of behavioral emphasis, the behaviors may be changed to improve supervisory performance. They are not fixed by nature of the individual's personality, only by habit and reactions to situational cues.

The framework provided by Mahoney and Rand offers a powerful diagnostic and action tool for supervisors. In many agencies, poor unit or individual performance can be linked to low or ineffective supervisory emphasis on one or more of the core components. For example, a caseworker may not collect enough information from a family member to assess risk. The supervisor may not have communicated clearly what information was needed (communication), followed up to ensure that the information was being collected (control), provided feedback in the past to sustain or correct previous assessment practices (feedback), or emphasized the importance of the information (production). Essentially, supervisory practices in each of the seven areas will determine and influence the nature of work accomplished by casework staff.

The supervisor's practices in each area affect the caseworker's experience in supervision. For example, a supervisor who provides much feedback (high feedback emphasis) and displays little empathy (low people emphasis) differs greatly from a supervisor who provides much feedback and places a high emphasis on people. The first type generally tends to provides more negative than positive feedback and offers little empathy toward how the caseworker experiences the feedback. The latter generally provides more positive than negative feedback and demonstrates concern for the worker. Similarly, a supervisor with clear expectations and criteria for performance generally finds greater acceptance of feedback than one with unclear expectations.

A supervisor's level of behavioral emphasis, coupled with the supervisor's competence in the practices, determines effectiveness in supervision. Both an appropriate emphasis and adequate competence are necessary. Supervisory development requires attention to both aspects of staff performance. A supervisor, able to deliver competent feedback, but who rarely offers it will not be effective. Likewise, an individual who provides much feedback but fails to be behaviorally specific will be a less effective supervisor.

In the same way that every person tends to rely on one arm which eventually becomes stronger than the other, supervisors tend to rely on one or more practices that become strong. Practice strength in some areas does not compensate for weaknesses in other areas, however. For example, clear expectations do not make up for

lack of warmth or feedback. Furthermore, frequent positive feedback given warmly does not negate the insecurity felt when expectations are left unclear. It is rare to find a supervisor who is effective in all seven areas, though such performance is achievable with honest self-assessment and a commitment to professional growth.

The following chapter describes how the supervisory roles apply to the CPS casework process.

11

## SUPERVISORY INVOLVEMENT IN THE CPS PROCESS

As described in the preceding chapter, the CPS supervisor has a variety of roles. These roles are now applied to the specific supervisory functions at each stage of the CPS process.

#### INTAKE

A key function of supervisors at this stage of the CPS process is to ensure that caseworkers possess the necessary knowledge and skills to gather accurate and sufficient information from the reporter and have the requisite background and competence to make key intake decisions. Thus, supervisors must arrange or provide specialized training for new staff. In addition, supervisors must consult with staff on an as-needed basis to assist in decision making. Some supervisors take responsibility for determining the urgency of the report. Supervisors also need to review each completed intake to assess the following:

- the accuracy, specificity, and thoroughness of the information collected;
- the decision regarding the appropriateness of the report in regard to agency guidelines and State child abuse and neglect statutes;
- the determination of the risk of untreated or additional harm to the child and the urgency of the report; and
- the caseworker's interviewing effectiveness and sensitivity to the reporter.

Supervisors should also monitor the number and type of referrals and the percentage of reports by type of reporter. Finally, for CPS intake to be performed effectively, a system for telephone coverage needs to be established. It is preferable that supervisors develop the system in consultation with their staff. This approach enables staff to feel they have a role in the decisions that affect them and the operation of the unit.

#### INVESTIGATION/INITIAL ASSESSMENT

Supervisors should also establish a system for rotating case assignments. When assigning cases, supervisors should assure clarity of expectations regarding the response time (especially when State law or agency policy provides varied response times based on the safety of the child). Depending on the level of experience of staff, supervisors can assist caseworkers in determining what other professionals (e.g., physician) should be involved in the investigation/initial assessment. Supervisors should establish internal protocols for the investigation (e.g., whom to interview, in what order, and the types of information to obtain from each person). Supervisors need to establish formal agreements and protocols with other community organizations (e.g., law enforcement agencies) to assure effective collaboration during the investigation. Throughout the process, supervisors must also assess the caseworker's evaluation of the child's safety and participate in any decisions requiring changes in the plan, such as out-of-home placement, to ensure that the child is protected from harm.

Supervisors play a critical role in ensuring that caseworkers possess the necessary knowledge and skills to:

• gather accurate and sufficient information from the parties involved in the investigation/initial assessment;

- analyze the information collected to determine the validity of the report;
- assess the risk of further maltreatment;
- treat each person with respect and dignity;
- manage crisis situations;
- manage anger and conflict and deal effectively with client resistance;
- determine the actions necessary to protect the child, if appropriate; and
- determine whether continuing CPS services are necessary to protect the child and help the family change the behaviors/conditions causing the maltreatment.

It is important to hold regular supervisor-caseworker conferences to review and discuss new cases. Supervisors also need to be available to provide consultation on decision making. Supervisors must always be involved in the decision to remove a child from his/her family. This is a critical decision that can have life-threatening ramifications for the child and serious effects on the child and family. Therefore, caseworkers should consult with their supervisor when making the decision to remove the child from the home. The supervisor must ensure that staff are meeting the required time frames for initial contact and completion of the investigation as well as review the results of each investigation to evaluate:

- the accuracy, specificity, and thoroughness of the information collected;
- the substantiation decision;
- the risk and safety determination;
- whether reasonable efforts were made to prevent placement of a child (if appropriate); and
- the case disposition.

At a minimum, supervisory monitoring on the unit level should include the response time, substantiation rate, caseload size, length of time to complete investigations, the percentage of cases opened for continuing services, and the rate of out-of-home placement. This information provides the supervisor with data he/she can use for future planning and for identifying trends.

#### CHILD AND FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND CASE PLANNING

When there is a separation of intake and investigation/initial assessment from ongoing CPS activities, the supervisor needs to implement a rotating system for case assignment. This system should balance the size of caseloads and the type and severity of cases assigned to individual caseworkers. Sometimes, supervisors encourage caseworkers to specialize in both investigation/initial assessment and continuing CPS. In this situation, a supervisor may assign cases based on worker preference and/or expertise.

At this stage in the CPS process, the supervisor plays an essential role in assuring that caseworkers possess the necessary knowledge and skills to:

• gather accurate and sufficient information to determine the causes of the abuse/neglect and its effects on the child and family;

- determine the problems/conditions that need to change to reduce/eliminate the risk of further maltreatment and identify the family strengths that can be tapped to help the family to initiate that change;
- engage the child and family in the assessment process and reach consensus with the family on what needs to change;
- determine the prognosis for change;
- identify specific services/interventions/service providers that will best address the family's problems/conditions/needs;
- engage the family in the planning process;
- determine with the family those problems/conditions/needs that should be addressed first;
- develop specific goals and tasks; and
- decide who will do what and when.

Supervisors need to meet with their staff on both a regularly scheduled and as-needed basis to review and discuss case assessments and case plans. Supervisors may also suggest the use of a multidisciplinary team for assistance in resolving difficult or complex cases. Some supervisors use group case staffing to assist with decision making and to provide support to caseworkers.

Supervisors need to ensure that staff are meeting the required time frames for initial contact and completion of the assessment report and the service plan. Adherence to these criteria helps assure that the child is safe and that the child and his/her family receive timely and appropriate services. Supervisors must review each assessment report and case plan in order to assess:

- the accuracy, specificity, and thoroughness of the information provided;
- the accuracy and specificity of the family's problems, conditions, needs, and strengths;
- the accuracy of the prognosis for change;
- the soundness of the service plan (e.g., whether it is realistic) and whether it addresses all of the areas that must change to reduce or eliminate the risk of maltreatment;
- the delineation of short-term, behavior-specific goals and tasks; and
- the safety of the child in the home.

#### SERVICE PROVISION AND EVALUATION OF FAMILY PROCESS

CPS supervisors need to monitor completion of caseworker activities and achievement of outcome goals for each case. The primary methods for accomplishing this task are by reviewing case narratives and service plan revisions and by discussing the cases with staff. Supervisors also monitor the child's safety while services for risk reduction are being implemented. If there is any change in the level of risk to the child, this too must be discussed with the caseworker. The supervisor monitors the number, type, and quality of caseworker-client contacts.<sup>8</sup> The supervisor also should evaluate the caseworker's system for monitoring services provided by other community service providers. When supervisors identify a lack of progress in a case, they must address this issue with the caseworker and identify alternatives. In addition to case progress and achievement of client outcomes, supervisors need to track the length of time a case is open. When cases are open for extended periods of time with little or no progress, the supervisor should discuss the relevance of the service plan with the caseworker, as well as the reasons for CPS involvement. Finally, supervisors are always involved in the following decisions:

- to pursue placement of a child,
- to initiate court intervention,
- to return a child in foster care to his/her family, and
- to terminate CPS intervention in a particular case.

Supervisory involvement in these decisions is important because they can affect the safety of the child and have serious implications for the family.

#### **RELATIONSHIP WITH THE PUBLIC AND THE MEDIA\***

Part of CPS management's responsibility is to inform the public and the media about the complex issues of child abuse and neglect. Educating the public and the media can create increased support for needed services to abused and neglected children and their families. CPS agencies have a responsibility to inform the public about the causes of child maltreatment, and these agencies should inform the community how they are organized to serve children and families.

Public education efforts should provide guidance about the parameters of child protection, stressing the agency's role in intervention in cases of child abuse and neglect. In addition, public and professional education should provide specific information about what constitutes a reportable child maltreatment incident.

#### PROTECTING THE AGENCY AGAINST LIABILITY

Liability presents a serious issue for the agency and the CPS supervisor. Agency liability exists primarily from negligence. Negligence occurs when a responsible party fails to follow prudent or accepted practice, and harm occurs as a result. The occurrence of harm does not in itself immediately mean negligence. For negligence to exist, there must be a substantial deviation from accepted practice. If a caseworker is found negligent, it is likely that a supervisor will also be found negligent. Consequently, this is an important area of supervisory concern.

Negligence can occur in several ways. For example, a client might be injured during transportation. The worker may have failed to secure a child in a proper child restraint. The worker might have been driving while impaired. Similarly, a child placed in a foster care facility might be injured while left unsupervised. A third example exists when the agency has failed to respond to a complaint within established agency time frames, and the child is severely injured. Negligence might exist in these cases if the worker or foster parent failed to follow agency procedures or if the agency failed to inform the worker or foster parent of these procedures.

<sup>\*</sup>Guidelines for a Model System of Protective Services for Abused and Neglected Children and Their Families. Washington, DC: National Association of Public Child Welfare Administrators, American Public Welfare Association, 1988.

Malpractice, another type of negligence, exists only when there are clearly established professional norms and procedures for conduct of interventions, such as established medical protocols. CPS agencies are not governed by the existence of such established practices. Consequently, the likelihood of agency liability through malpractice is minimal. However, agency policies will substitute, to the extent possible, for such accepted practices. Failure to follow agency procedures presents the greatest risk of liability because of negligence.

There are several actions by the supervisor that can reduce potential liability. The first is to ensure that all caseworkers are adequately informed of agency policies and procedures. Simply giving the caseworker a copy of the policy manual may not be enough. Evidence of a review of appropriate policies directly with workers is important, especially when policies exist to protect the child or client from potential harm (e.g., the use of safety restraints while transporting the child).

Periodic review of cases to ensure that policies are being followed is a second precaution against liability. When agency policies are not followed, written feedback should be provided to the caseworker, corrective action noted, and followup provided to ensure that case procedures have been brought into compliance. Supervisors should establish a regular schedule for the review of case records. The review should focus on key points of agency policy, without excluding a summary of the actual casework with the client. Both policy and practice are important. Supervisors who sign off on case records without an adequate review increase their own risk significantly.

Finally, policies should be written and current. Policies are frequently modified by court decisions, county letters from the commissioner, or by other revisions. Keeping staff informed about policy changes and providing evidence of such efforts is critical not only to protect the agency, but also to ensure that best practices are in place throughout the agency.

## **BUILDING THE FOUNDATION FOR EFFECTIVE UNIT FUNCTIONING**

#### COMMUNICATING THE AGENCY'S MISSION AND GOALS OF CPS

The primary work of any human service agency occurs at the point of client contact. However, agency efforts away from the front line also support the best possible application of methods of helping and serving clients.

CPS was formalized in the early 1960's. Since that time, the child protection mission has dominated. Beginning in the 1970's, however, pressures for permanency planning and concern over the increasing number of children entering foster care brought increasing emphasis on a second mission—family preservation. In some instances, caseworkers see the goals of child protection and family preservation as conflicting. Indeed, in the immediate sense they may be in conflict. It is the supervisor who must bring the two missions together and ensure that the interventions of the caseworker with the family are aimed at both.

The supervisor has several roles in communicating CPS goals and missions. The first role is to orient new staff. By initially communicating the mission, goals, purposes, practices, and procedures of CPS, the supervisor builds the basis for achievement of the agency's overall mission. The second role is to communicate values. As staff provide services to protect children and maintain families, the supervisor links their actions to underlying values of practice. For example, when cases are assigned, issues of client rights, children's needs, and parental responsibilities are discussed in order to reaffirm basic professional values.

In reviewing cases and monitoring ongoing work, the supervisor has many opportunities to provide positive feedback on work consistent with the agency mission and CPS goals as ell as to identify areas in need of change. Thus, the supervisor is essentially the guardian of the agency's mission and the goals of CPS.

#### CREATING AND COMMUNICATING A VISION FOR THE UNIT

An individual's current actions need to be based on the future he/she desires. Acting on one's own choices means taking responsibility for the future and creating a vision of how one will contribute to that future. For the CPS unit, this action means creating a vision for the unit.

Visions for CPS staff and supervisors are compelling statements about how the unit intends to go about ensuring that children are protected. Peter Block suggests, "Creating a vision forces us to take a stand for a preferred future."<sup>9</sup> The vision that supervisors create for the unit must focus on families and express how the unit contributes to the family. For example, "We work as partners with parents to ensure the well-being and safety of children." The vision needs to engage and inspire one's imagination. To the extent that the vision is an expression of one's own values, connection to the organization is realized. An individual's or group's self-interest, then, becomes directly connected to the interests of the agency.

As Block notes, exploring one's vision may create doubts about the way one works with clients and about the agency's ability to achieve its mission. However, a vision also forces one to become accountable for actions that may not be congruent with the vision. As Block observes, "The hardest thing for any of us to do is live by the rules that we create."<sup>10</sup>

He also suggests that supervisors should create a vision of greatness for the unit. Obviously, the vision will have more meaning to the staff if members of the unit help to create that vision. In working toward a vision, Block makes several suggestions:

- Forget about being the best. The vision statement is an expression of what you seek to contribute, not how the rest of the world will evaluate your contribution.
- Don't be practical. A preferred future comes from the heart, not the head.
- Begin with your clients. The success of the agency depends on how well you serve clients. Some examples of vision statements about what greatness looks like when dealing with clients are:
  - --- "We act as partners with out clients."
  - --- "Our clients feel that we respect them."
  - --- "We fulfill every promise to our clients."
  - --- "We don't force solutions on our clients."
  - -""We're here to help, not to police."
- Members of the unit cannot treat their clients any better than they treat each other. The way staff treat each other is the clearest indication of how they will treat their clients.

Vision statements are not expressions of the results the unit expects to achieve through interventions; for example, reducing child abuse and neglect. Rather, they are compelling statements about the way one intends to work toward the desired results. They are expressions of the behaviors, values, and beliefs that provide the surest route to unit accomplishments.

#### **ESTABLISHING A POSITIVE WORK CLIMATE**

Work climate is the employee's perception of how well his/her basic needs are being met in the agency. If caseworkers feel their basic needs are being met, they will view work more positively.

Climate influences staff performance. Because it reflects the caseworker's perception of the positive and negative consequences of his/her actions, the work climate influences motivation. Basically, when caseworkers feel their needs are likely to be met, they are more likely to take constructive action.

A number of factors influence the climate of a unit or agency. These factors include history, organizational structure, interpersonal qualities of members of the group, and management or supervisory behavior. Of any of these factors, management and supervisory behavior explain most of the variance in a caseworker's perception of work climate. Supervisors have the most influence on how their staff experience the workplace through their responses to the day-to-day needs of individuals in their unit.

There are a number of components of climate, each relating to underlying needs of the caseworker and behaviors of the supervisor. When supervisors respond positively to caseworkers' underlying needs, the climate improves. When underlying needs are frustrated, the climate deteriorates. The following chart describes the climate components and the related supervisory practices.

## CHART 1

### CLIMATE COMPONENTS AND SUPERVISORY PRACTICES

| Climate Component  | Underlying Needs                   | Supervisory Practices  |
|--|------------------------------------|--|
| <b>Clarity</b> — the extent to which goals, expectations, and mission are clearly defined                                      | Security, growth, and autonomy     | Communicating expectations, shar-<br>ing information, and providing<br>feedback  |
| Warmth — the extent to which<br>sensitivity, support, and empathy<br>are demonstrated toward the needs<br>of caseworkers       | Intimacy, self-worth, and security | Sharing information and providing<br>empathy and positive feedback   |
| <b>Openness</b> — the extent to which<br>caseworkers feel free to express<br>thoughts and opinions without fear<br>of reprisal | Security and self-worth            | Sharing information and providing feedback and empathy   |
| Autonomy — the extent to which<br>caseworkers feel freedom to<br>achieve goals according to strate-<br>gies they define        | Autonomy and self-worth            | Communicating expectations, shar-<br>ing information, focusing on moni-<br>toring results rather than process,<br>and providing feedback based on<br>results |
| <b>Excellence</b> — the extent to which<br>high performance standards are<br>expected  | Self-worth and growth              | Emphasizing results, setting clear<br>expectations, and providing results-<br>based feedback   |
| Accountability — the extent to<br>which caseworkers feel they are<br>responsible and accountable for<br>performance            | Security, self-worth, and growth   | Providing feedback, monitoring results, and clarifying expectations  |
| Leadership — the extent to which<br>caseworkers feel the authority<br>system is competent to meet the<br>agency's needs        | Security and self-worth            | Demonstrating comfort with the<br>role, clarifying expectations, mon-<br>itoring results, and providing feed-<br>back  |

Examining the climate is a useful diagnostic tool for unit development. For example, caseworkers may seek frequent advice from the supervisor about routine case assignments. When asked, caseworkers may reveal uncertainty about expectations. Feeling somewhat insecure, they may be overly cautious. However, increased information, clarity of expectations from the supervisor, and positive feedback about correct and successful actions are likely to address the caseworkers' underlying needs and alter behavior.

#### **DEVELOPING AN EFFECTIVE WORK TEAM**

A team is a group of individuals who have developed specialized roles to achieve the group's goal. Zander states, "We know that people have formed a group when they talk freely, are interested in the achievement of their group set as a whole, feel that associates are helpful, try to assist colleagues, refer to their group collectivity as `we' and to other social bodies as `they,' and faithfully participate when members gather. A group has not formed when members are primarily concerned with individual accomplishments or are not concerned with the activities of other members."<sup>11</sup>

Some conditions for team formation are not inherently present in a CPS unit. First, caseworkers work primarily toward individual achievements; that is, their assigned cases. Second, the outcome of their cases depends less on the contributions of other unit members than those of other units or persons outside the agencies. Third, what the unit as a whole is to achieve is unclear. Fourth, although some staff roles may be specialized, more often specialization is the exception rather than the rule for the unit as a whole.

However, other conditions for team development may be met within the CPS unit. Caseworkers may feel a sense of cohesion with other unit members. They may view their unit as distinct from other units in the agency and offer support to each other with difficult cases. Whether the unit becomes a team depends on the extent to which the supervisor emphasizes group goals as well as individual goals, defines tasks that require interdependence among unit members, and encourages group participation in defining unit problems and selecting solutions.

Supervisors who want to improve the performance and quality of a group must work first to develop cohesiveness. Cohesiveness is the desire of individuals to remain members of a particular group. It is enhanced by increasing the number of personal needs met through the group, increasing the importance of these needs to an individual, and improving the group's ability to fill the needs. Supervisors can help individuals identify needs and communicate them to the unit. Also, supervisors can help structure the unit responses to an individual caseworker's needs.

Another way to strengthen a group is to direct attention to how the unit can help the agency achieve its mission. This technique means arousing within the unit and the individual a desire for group success and requires agreement about some fundamental components of the unit. These elements include purpose, goals, procedures, values, norms, policies, standards, and practices. This approach also requires feedback about the group's, as well as the individual's, progress. Members must be able to compare feedback over time to determine unit trends and progress.

#### **Stages of Team/Group Development**

Groups often progress through different stages of development. New groups come together out of an initial attraction of members and a feeling that others can help achieve a goal. For example, foster parents may meet initially because of a common concern about the agency or a shared experience with children in care. At first, the group must deal with power, purpose, and strategy. The conflicting values and preferences in this stage often have the appearance of storms. As the conflicts are resolved or managed, the group evolves norms defining acceptable behavior. Finally, the group devotes more energy to performance than to development.

For a CPS supervisor, the sequence is usually more complex. Typically, the unit already exists, unless a new unit is being formed. Therefore, some aspects of the group have already been established. Even if staff vacancies exist, the issue is one of bringing new members into an already-existing group rather than establishing an entirely new group. Generally, the supervisor encounters two problems in team development. First, the unit has established norms, procedures, or goals that may not be congruent with the supervisor's or agency's vision of the unit. Second, new members must be incorporated into the unit.

In the first case, the supervisor must counter the existing culture of the group. Countering the culture frequently means behaving in ways that violate existing group norms. For example, members of a group may have established a norm of not giving direct feedback to each other. Rather, concerns about other's behaviors are communicated directly to the supervisor. A supervisor might violate (i.e., change) this norm by expecting direct communication among the caseworkers.

In the second case, the supervisor must facilitate new members' integration into the group. This process usually occurs more quickly when staff share responsibility for meeting the needs of new members. A common mistake of supervisors is to encourage new members to have their needs met exclusively through the supervisor. At the extreme, this approach undermines group development and keeps the new caseworker isolated from other members of the group. Over time, this dynamic creates a "hub and spoke" arrangement of communication (with the supervisor at the center), rather than the "star" pattern more characteristic of effective group and team interaction.

#### **Assessing Team Functioning**

In assessing a team's level of functioning, the supervisor should examine the following:

- commitment to group rather than individual goals,
- helpfulness of members,
- openness of communication,
- identification with the unit, and
- the level of participation of each caseworker in group activities.

Both the evenness and extent of these conditions define the level of the group's functioning. Although a unit could be functioning well as a group, it might actually be achieving very little. For example, a unit may have a strong sense of camaraderie and yet have the most serious paperwork backlog in the agency. Good teamwork is a way to a goal, not a goal in and of itself.

#### ESTABLISHING AND COMMUNICATING PRACTICE STANDARDS

Practice standards are statements about agency and staff actions that are believed to ensure the best quality of services and outcomes for children and families. Practice standards are often included in statutes and regulations and in policies and documents published by national organizations. These standards are also communicated through managerial expectations and the supervisor's own beliefs about good practice. Standards are usually set in relation to processes rather than results. A process is a task or series of activities that leads to an outcome or result (e.g., the way to conduct an investigation/initial assessment). A result is either a decision (e.g., a substantiation decision) or a change in behavior. For example, States establish standards concerning the type of contacts required in CPS cases. However, few, if any States, have standards related to the outcomes caseworkers are expected to achieve as a result of the contacts.

In making decisions about caseload standards, case management standards, and standards of quality, the supervisor requires administration support and guidance to balance both processes and results. Decisions about caseload size should reflect the amount of client contact needed in a month to achieve the level of client benefit desired. Cases will vary in complexity, intensity of need, and geographic location. The number of cases assigned should minimally reflect these concerns.

Case management standards should similarly reflect prevailing understanding of the field regarding effective intervention (i.e., the structure and nature of the intervention) and the individual needs of a family. For example, some families require intensive family-based services. Standards must accommodate the intensity of service delivery and case management tasks.

Determining quality and setting standards of quality require sound judgment. To the extent quality can be measured, it may be analogous to Olympic diving. The criteria are predetermined, but the extent of the quality being observed is left to individual judgment. Just as Olympic judges do not always agree, supervisors may also differ in their assessment of individual performance. For this reason, each supervisor must strive for clear criteria and achieve personal comfort in exercising his/her professional judgment. The standards of quality set by supervisors will determine the quality of life for children and families.

Thus, agency administrators and supervisors need to define quality for both process and results. For example, most States require that caseworkers prepare a service plan with the family within a specified period of time. It is the supervisor's role to define what constitutes quality for that process (e.g., goals will be behaviorally specific) and to provide staff with a visible model of quality.

## **BUILDING STAFF CAPACITY**

Often, one of the most satisfying aspects of supervision is helping caseworkers grow and develop on the job. Because of their daily interaction with caseworkers, supervisors can dramatically affect the learning and development of their staff. This chapter describes how supervisors can have a positive impact on staff development.

#### PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS FOR CPS CASEWORKERS

The first step in building staff capacity is to communicate clearly the agency mission, CPS goals, and the philosophical assumptions (i.e., values) on which child protection is based. The mission, goals, and values provide a framework for practice by providing purpose, direction, and guiding principles. Performance expectations communicate to CPS caseworkers how their role contributes to fulfilling the agency's mission and achieving CPS goals.

Although there are numerous and varied expectations for caseworkers, the following chart provides a sample of performance expectations CPS staff. Communicating these expectations to caseworkers, along with the philosophical assumptions upon which they are based, gives the caseworkers a clear understanding of what the supervisor and agency expect of them and why. A definition of performance expectations for CPS caseworkers enables the supervisor to determine the competencies caseworkers must possess to fulfill the expectations, allows supervisors to assess workers' level of competence in achieving those expectations, and helps identify the positive aspects and problems in individual caseworker performance.

#### STAGES OF CASEWORKER DEVELOPMENT<sup>12</sup>

New CPS caseworkers typically progress through four stages of development—high anxiety, "make it or break it," basic skills, and relative independence. Caseworkers usually require *at least* 1 full year of on-the-job experience before they are able to function on a more autonomous/independent basis. The following three factors affect how quickly caseworkers move through each of these stages:

- The caseworker's educational background—an M.S.W. or B.S.W. provides caseworkers with some basic knowledge and skills to do the job (e.g., knowledge of human behavior and psychopathology, social work principles and ethics, and intervention techniques).
- Previous social work/child welfare experience.
- Supervisory interventions designed to address the feelings and meet the needs of caseworkers at each stage of development.<sup>13</sup>

It is important for supervisors to be aware of the feelings and needs of caseworkers at each stage of development so that the appropriate supervisory intervention can be used to build caseworker capacity and maintain caseworker performance at an acceptable level.

## CHART 2

#### SAMPLE PERFORMANCE EXPECTATIONS FOR CPS CASEWORKERS

- Record factual information obtained from the reporter in a clear, concise, thorough, and understandable manner.
- Gather information from the reporter to determine the appropriateness and urgency of the referral (Related to the Intake stage of the process).
- Evaluate the credibility of the reporter (Related to the Intake stage of the CPS process).
- Determine whether the reported information meets the statutory and agency guidelines for child maltreatment.
- Assess the level of risk of untreated harm and further harm to the child and determine the response time necessary to ensure the safety of the child.
- Develop an initial assessment/investigation plan including whom to interview and in what order, what records/documents to obtain, what examinations must be conducted, and who should be involved in conducting the initial assessment/investigation.
- Gather information to determine the validity of the report and assess the level of risk and safety (Related to the Initial Assessment stage of the CPS process).
- Treat the children and family with respect, genuineness, and empathy.
- Analyze the initial assessment data and determine the validity of the report (Related to the Initial Assessment stage of the CPS process).
- Complete all investigative reports within the required time frame.
- Determine the nature and level of risk of future maltreatment.
- Determine whether the child's safety can be ensured in his/her own home and what interventions will be needed to protect the child. If it is determined that the child's safety cannot be ensured in his/her own home, the placement alternative (least restrictive) that best meets the child's needs must be determined.
- Identify the child's emergency physical or psychological needs.
- Provide or ensure that needed emergency/crisis intervention services are delivered to the child and family.
- Identify the strengths in the child and family and the underlying factors that cause the abuse and neglect.

- Reach consensus with the family on the problems that must be addressed to reduce/eliminate the risk of maltreatment.
- Identify the intervention approaches/services that will help the family reduce/eliminate the risk of maltreatment and meet the child's treatment needs.
- Determine whether the agency can meet the family's needs and whether the family will benefit from and is willing and able to participate in ongoing CPS services.
- Develop a case plan with the family which builds on its strengths and provides clear direction and guidance for changing the behaviors/conditions that contribute to the risk of maltreatment.
- Deliver or coordinate the delivery of services to the abused or neglected child and his/her family.
- Ensure that every contact/intervention with the family is planned and purposeful.
- Continually assess the risk of maltreatment to the child.
- Evaluate the family's progress toward reduction/elimination of risk of future maltreatment.
- Review, revise, and update the case plan at least within the time frames required by the State.
- Determine whether the risk of maltreatment has been reduced sufficiently so that the case can be closed.

#### The High Anxiety Stage<sup>14</sup>

The High Anxiety Stage begins the first day on the job and usually lasts between 3 to 6 months. This stage is characterized by a mixture of intense feelings and needs. Caseworkers may be confused about their feelings toward abusive and neglectful parents and about their roles and responsibilities. They may experience anxiety about the life and death decisions they must make and the potential impact of those decisions on families' and children's lives. Caseworkers may feel overwhelmed with everything they have to learn and be able to do. Furthermore, they may feel inadequate to perform the child welfare tasks. Caseworkers may also experience some positive feelings; for example, a sense of excitement, enthusiasm, and challenge.

At this stage of their development, caseworkers need information about the agency, its mission, the organizational structure, programs, and how the various programs interrelate; CPS goals, policies, and legal mandates; agency and supervisory expectations; the client population; and community resources. They also need encouragement to express their feelings and concerns. They need their supervisor to normalize their feelings and give them opportunities to resolve those feelings. Caseworkers also need support and reassurance.

Although this period is the most difficult for caseworkers, it is also the time when the greatest amount of learning and growth take place. Following are a number of supervisory interventions that can help caseworkers manage their feelings; meet their needs; and build their confidence, knowledge and skills.

#### Supervisory Interventions During the High Anxiety Stage

- Accept and meet caseworker dependency needs. Expecting caseworker independence is premature. It is appropriate for new caseworkers to seek security and stability from their supervisor. Supervisors should be more directive than with experienced caseworkers. Frequent feedback for positive performance, as well as unconditional caring, is critical. Just as supervisors accept the dependency needs of caseworkers, they should encourage caseworkers to accept the dependency needs of their clients.
- **Provide the factual tools**. Supervisors should ensure that caseworkers clearly understand the expectations for performance. Supervisors should also provide caseworkers with information regarding agency mission, services/programs in the agency, unit goals, values underlying the goals, legal mandates, policies, and procedures. Caseworkers should be helped to understand how the goals, policies, and procedures relate to specific cases and casework intervention. During this stage, inexperienced caseworkers need as much structure and specific instruction as available.
- Accept caseworker feelings of confusion and inadequacy. The confusion and sense of inadequacy felt by new caseworkers should be viewed as part of their development. If supervisors help normalize these feelings and demonstrate that they are acceptable, caseworkers will come to accept these feelings and view them as a natural part of personal and professional growth.
- Encourage open discussion of feelings. Undoubtedly, caseworkers will experience anxiety over performance, their feelings toward clients, and client interactions. Supervisors should encourage case workers to express this anxiety and provide the necessary acceptance, support, and reassurance to enable the caseworker to develop professionally. Supervisors should engage the caseworker in open discussion regarding any other feelings that the caseworker might be experiencing.
- Be constructive—help caseworkers identify mistakes. New caseworkers are not always aware that they have made a mistake. They have not developed sufficient knowledge and skills to identify

gaps in performance. Therefore, supervisors need to assist caseworkers in identifying their needs in a way that builds on their strengths and identifies strategies for change.

- Have regular conferences. Beginning with this stage and continuing throughout the next two stages of caseworker development, supervisors should spend approximately 2 hours each week with each new caseworker in regularly scheduled conferences. It is important for the supervisor to be readily available to new caseworkers. In addition, crises and emergencies will also require extra time and effort on the part of the supervisor.
- Substitute for caseworkers only in cases of extreme emergency. Caseworkers develop a sense of confidence in their skills and knowledge by successfully dealing with issues that surface in their caseload. They need to know that their supervisor will support them and be available to help solve problems and make crucial decisions. However, supervisors should also demonstrate confidence in caseworkers' ability to handle specific casework tasks.
- **Build caseloads slowly**. If at all possible for the first 2 months, the supervisor should limit the number of cases a new caseworker handles. Cases should be introduced slowly, and the supervisor should use the new cases as tools to reinforce expectations, policies, procedures, and the casework process. This supervisory practice allows time for confidence building and reduces pressure.
- Clarify both client and caseworker behaviors. Questions asked during supervisor-caseworker conferences should identify client responses to caseworker behaviors. Conferences should also include clarification regarding the reasons for particular client responses. Focusing on both client and caseworker behaviors helps caseworkers identify those interventions that are successful and those that need to be modified.

#### The "Make It or Break It" Stage

By the time they enter this stage, caseworkers should have developed some degree of confidence in conducting assessments, developing plans, and making decisions. However, they may also be feeling a sense of inadequacy regarding some of their responsibilities and tasks. They may still experience some anxiety regarding the decisions they must make and the impact of those decisions on families and children's lives. They will probably have a sense of greater comfort because of their increased understanding of what is expected of them and how to fulfill their responsibilities. Sometime during this stage, caseworkers should also acquire a sense of belonging to the unit.

Caseworkers need to know that they are progressing in increasing their knowledge and skills. They need the supervisor to continue encouraging their growing independence while remaining available to provide considerable support, and they will need continued assistance in identifying casework strengths and mistakes. Caseworkers will need to feel a connection with other staff and the supervisor. They may need additional information on the children and families they are serving and how to perform specific casework tasks. Finally, caseworkers will continue to need opportunities to practice new skills, make decisions, and receive feedback on their performance.

#### Supervisory Interventions During the "Make It or Break It" Stage

Expect and allow mistakes. At this stage, caseworkers test new behaviors in their work with clients, and as a result, may experience a loss of confidence when their attempts fail to meet their own expectations. All caseworkers inevitably make mistakes. Supervisors should help caseworkers

accept and learn from their mistakes. When supervisors communicate a willingness to admit and accept their own mistakes, they demonstrate to caseworkers that mistakes are acceptable and should be viewed as a learning experience rather than as failure.

- **Reinforce knowledge**. By this stage, caseworkers should have acquired most of the basic knowledge to perform child welfare functions. The supervisor's role is to help caseworkers draw on this knowledge and apply it to specific cases.
- Help caseworkers organize observations and ideas. At this stage, caseworkers should begin to identify patterns and trends occurring across cases. It is the supervisor's role to underscore these similarities and help caseworkers synthesize them into principles of practice.
- Analyze intuition without stifling creativity and spontaneity. As caseworkers gain confidence, they begin to act on hunches, common sense, and intuition. Supervisors should assist caseworkers to validate these instincts by helping them analyze what led to the intuition.
- Help caseworkers feel a sense of belonging to the unit. From the beginning of employment, case workers need to feel a sense of belonging to the unit. Recognizing caseworkers as valuable members of the unit is particularly important at this stage.

# **Basic Skills**

Caseworkers are feeling confident in their ability to perform essential CPS functions. They are generally able to identify and analyze client problems. Basic knowledge and skills have been incorporated into their interventions, and gaps in services are more apparent to them. Caseworkers are feeling some satisfaction because they see evidence of the impact of their efforts. At the same time, they are also experiencing some dissatisfaction/disillusionment. They are more aware of the obstacles they face in fulfilling their responsibilities to help children and families. In addition, many caseworkers recognize the need to develop more specialized skills and set professional goals for themselves. This is the beginning of independent practice.

# Supervisory Interventions During the Basic Skills Stage

- Listen carefully. Careful listening is the supervisor's primary task in relating to caseworkers at this stage of development. Although supervisors may ask clarifying or informational questions, the supervisor's primary function at this point is to listen first and then discuss.
- Identify caseworker resistance and discuss it in relation to clients. Caseworker resistance may require some attention in earlier stages, but it is at this third stage that any resistance must be specifically addressed in supervisory conferences. When caseworkers are reluctant to deal with certain clients or client behaviors, this reluctance should be assessed in terms of how it affects the caseworker–client relationship and the achievement of agency and unit goals. Attention should be directed to the way in which clients react to the caseworker's intervention and how the caseworker can use personal and professional strengths to improve relationships with clients.
- Help caseworkers identify and examine options. The supervisor may agree with the options or ideas presented by the caseworker; however, it is essential to expose the caseworker to as many other options as possible. Brainstorming is one way to assist caseworkers in identifying options for their clients.

• **Provide feedback**. Specific positive and negative feedback is essential at all stages of caseworker development. In the earlier stages, feedback takes a more developmental focus. (See the chapter "Recognition of Performance.") At this stage, it is very important to measure worker performance against agency/supervisory expectations.

# **Stage of Relative Independence**

Supervisors want all of their caseworkers to aspire to and reach this stage. Caseworkers at should have a strong sense of competence and confidence regarding their knowledge and skills and their ability to perform their responsibilities and make critical decisions. They can identify problems and options and determine a substantial portion of the agenda for supervisory conferences. At this point, caseworkers typically have a strong sense of independence and autonomy. However, as in the previous stage, they may be experiencing frustration and disillusionment with their cases. They may express the need to grow professionally and experience new challenges.

As caseworkers prepare for new challenges, they need recognition for their accomplishments and efforts. Supervisors must be as creative as possible in assisting caseworkers to identify ways that they can continue to grow and develop on the job. If caseworkers feel challenged and experience growth, it is more likely that they will be motivated.

# Supervisory Interventions in The Stage of Relative Independence

- Encourage active involvement in supervisory conferences. At this point in their development, caseworkers are aware of their own supervisory needs. Although biweekly 1-hour conferences may be sufficient, supervisors still need to monitor and "sign off" on key decisions and provide staff with direction and feedback, as appropriate.
- Assist caseworkers in clarifying their own professional development and in identifying educational or training needs. Caseworkers need to continue to learn and grow. Supervisors must help caseworkers identify training resources and opportunities for continuing education and development.
- **Prepare caseworkers for new roles.** Unless caseworkers continue to experience new challenges on the job, they lose interest. It is, therefore, important for supervisors to encourage caseworkers to take on new and creative responsibilities and prepare for new roles.

# METHODS FOR BUILDING STAFF CAPACITY

Learning skills involves the following four-step process:

- Receive information.
- Observe a model performance.
- Practice performance.
- Receive feedback.

To acquire a new skill, caseworkers must be given specific information on the skill (why it is important, how to use it, and when to use it). They must also be provided with a model of the results anticipated for application of that skill. Further, caseworkers need an opportunity to practice performing the skill and receiving feedback on v/hat they did well and areas that require improvement.

For example, for a new caseworker, the first two steps of the process are completed by a supervisor who provides information on how to investigate a complaint of maltreatment and assigns an experienced caseworker to model the conduct of an investigation. Subsequently, the supervisor or an experienced caseworker should observe the new caseworker as he/she conducts an investigation and provide feedback on demonstrated skills.

Whenever instructing a caseworker in a new skill, the supervisor must ensure completion of all four steps of the learning process. There are a variety of methods that supervisors can employ to teach new caseworkers what they need to know to perform their jobs well and to continue to enhance the competence of more experienced staff.

# Orientation

CPS caseworkers need to be prepared for the very important roles they fulfill for abused and neglected children and their families. Too often, CPS caseworkers are not adequately prepared for the job's difficult tasks and decisions. Therefore, it is critical that preservice training and orientation be provided to new caseworkers to bring them to a level of basic competency; that is, the ability to perform critical CPS functions for specific information on the CPS process and specific caseworker functions. Supervisors should refer to another manual in this series entitled *Child Protective Services: A Guide for Caseworkers*.

The supervisor's role in orientation varies depending on the extent of preservice training provided to new caseworkers. Orientation to the job typically includes the first two steps of the learning skills process—providing information and modeling performance.

In orienting new caseworkers to CPS, supervision must:

- provide the caseworker with information about the agency, the programs/services the agency provides, the unit they are assigned to, their particular position, their place in the organizational structure, and community resources;
- be clear about performance expectations;
- explain, interpret, and clarify policies and procedures to facilitate understanding of the agency's standards and operational framework;
- share information about the client population;
- explain tasks, responsibilities, and intervention steps; and
- provide models of practice (e.g., samples of completed, exemplary forms, and opportunities for observation of skilled workers' use of casework techniques).

### Training

Over the past 15 to 20 years, a large number of curricula for CPS staff have been developed. Some of the curricula focus on specific aspects of CPS practice, whereas others address the entire CPS process. A number of States (e.g., Georgia, Alabama, Tennessee, Wisconsin, South Carolina, Ohio, Maine, and Virginia) provide competency-based, preservice certification training programs for all new child welfare staff.\*\*

Although these programs differ in the content and approach to training, the intent is the same—to provide caseworkers with basic CPS knowledge and skills and the opportunity to examine personal attitudes, values, and biases toward maltreated children and their families. The Georgia and Alabama models provide 8 weeks of training—4 weeks of structured on-the-job training provided by the supervisor interspersed with

4 weeks of residential training. These models focus on developing the core competencies caseworkers must possess in order to achieve CPS outcomes/goals. For example, skills such as demonstrating empathy, respect and genuiness; determining the validity of the report; and assessing the risk of further harm to the child are covered.

Other models, for example, those used in Ohio and Virginia, are based on a more task-oriented approach. They tend to provide information and skill development related to stages of the CPS process (e.g., Intake.) For information on how to evaluate the quality of training, supervisors are referred to a document published by the American Public Welfare Association, *Guidelines for a Model System Proactive Services for Abused and Neglected Children*.

Periodic inservice training is important for all caseworkers and can be provided in a number of ways, including the following:

- specialized workshops provided by State staff development/training personnel;
- continuing education courses offered by schools of social work;
- · advanced training courses provided by national organizations; and
- national, regional, State, and local conferences and workshops.

Competency-based training should always incorporate the four-stage process of learning skills.

# Supervisory Teaching Methods<sup>15</sup>

Supervisors need to be aware of and maximize the potential influence they have over what caseworkers learn. There are a number of methods supervisors can use on-the-job to facilitate staff learning and development.

### **One-to-One Teaching**

Ongoing dialogue between supervisors and caseworkers for individualized instruction is probably the most persuasive teaching method. Some advantages of this method include the following:

- Instruction can be easily individualized to accommodate the caseworker's strengths and needs, intellectual level, academic background, and learning style.
- Instruction is part of the regular interaction between the caseworker and supervisor, with the expectation of learning built into the relationship.
- Instruction using a one-to-one approach helps bridge status and cultural gaps.
- Instruction using a one-to-one approach allows supervisors to impart information and model performance.

### Brainstorming

Brainstorming is used by supervisors to generate ideas and provide information about practice alternatives. During a case conference, for example, when a caseworker feels that all of the options for a client have been exhausted, brainstorming can be an excellent tool for identifying new strategies. This technique sets the stage

<sup>\*\*</sup>Specific information on these training programs may be obtained through each State's department of child welfare training and staff development.

for staff to escape from their more routine approaches to problem solving. Many ideas are generated in a brief period of time. Brainstorming with the unit is another method that produces ideas and at the same time elicits full participation of staff. Ideas are expressed in a value-free environment that leads to an energized and positive group experience.

Brainstorming is useful in working through problems that caseworkers present because:

- It promotes the caseworker's active involvement in the decision-making process rather than the caseworker waiting for decisions to be made.
- It provides a means for expressing ideas spontaneously and "on the spot."
- It reduces the stifling effect of trying to "second-guess" and present the "right" ideas to impress the supervisor.
- It enables the supervisor and caseworker to gain new perspectives in a stimulating and interesting atmosphere.
- In group situations, it reduces the likelihood of "one-upmanship" in the problem-solving process.

Most supervisors are able to move comfortably into brainstorming with one or several caseworkers. The rewards tend to be immediate. Many sound ideas surface, which might otherwise be inhibited by interpersonal conflicts, dominant personalities, patterns of uninvolvement, or fear of criticism.

#### Modeling

Supervisory modeling is the deliberate display of behavior by the supervisor to demonstrate effective performance and promote learning. Research and life experiences have shown modeling to be very useful in teaching new behaviors, in helping individuals retry behaviors previously associated with negative consequences, and in improving the performance of previously learned behavior. The three phases of learning modeled behaviors are as follows:

- Attention. The attention of the caseworker is focused by the supervisor to identify key behaviors.
- **Retention**. The caseworker commits the observed behaviors to memory so that they can be reproduced. Sorting the observed behaviors in terms of importance and familiarity and rehearsing the behaviors is very helpful in aiding retention.
- **Reproduction**. The test of learning is doing. Performance is the replication of observed behaviors.

The following are advantages of using modeling behavior in the supervisory process:

- Caseworkers can personally experience the effects of the supervisor's behaviors.
- Caseworkers can change behaviors through practice (before they are interpreted as inappropriate).
- Good practices can be brought to the caseworker's attention and reinforced.

# Role Play

Role playing is simply playing a part/role in a simulated or staged situation. Role playing is an excellent instructional strategy for observation of techniques, feelings, and behaviors. It is also an excellent instruc-

tional tool for practicing performance and receiving feedback. Research on the effects of role play shows that the most significant change in behavior occurs among those participating in role play rather than in the observers. Several uses of role play have been change in behavior suggested, including the following:

- Experiential. Try out new behaviors.
- Diagnostic. Identify problems and solutions.
- Practice. Develop intervention techniques.
- Decision making. Develop decision-making skills.
- Finding solutions. Solve specific problems.
- Examining attitudes. Change viewpoints.
- Evaluation. Assess skills demonstrated in role play.<sup>16</sup>

The effectiveness of role play in supervision depends on a number of factors:

- the thoughtful planning of roles, anticipated interactions, and the scene or situation;
- the comfort level of the role players;
- the amount of flexibility and improvisation encouraged in the role play;
- the cuing (i.e., prompting) of behaviors or skills to be learned or practiced; and
- the quality of feedback provided immediately after the role play.

In addition, role players need the opportunity for debriefing. Feelings experienced in the role, reactions to the role play, and application of the exercise to practice are some examples of debriefing topics.

### Coaching<sup>17</sup>

Coaching is an individualized approach to staff development, involving the following seven steps:

- Setting expectations. Supervisors need to begin with a well-defined set of expectations. These expectations are generally high, probably higher than the caseworker thinks can be achieved. However, especially in the beginning, expectations are set just above the level of the staff's best current performance.
- Recalling relevant past experiences and skills. Much new learning involves the synthesis of old ideas. Therefore, it is important to help the caseworker recall past experiences and skills relevant to current performance expectations.
- **Presenting new situations.** Because everyone learns differently, it is important to tailor the presentation of new practice information to each caseworker's learning style. For example, some case workers learn best by first being presented with the theory or standards of practice. Other caseworkers learn best by having practice explained in terms of concrete or personal examples to which they can relate.

- **Providing learning guidance**. Learning guidance means directing the thinking of the caseworker, but it does not mean providing the answer. The forms of clearly learning guidance supervisors can use include the cuing of thinking and modeling or demonstrating behaviors/skills.
- **Observing performance**. Supervisors can provide the most direct feedback on caseworker performance through observation of actual practice.
- **Providing feedback**. Feedback should focus on what the caseworker did well and why as well as documented areas for improvement. Feedback encourages professional development and growth.
- Offering encouragement and assistance. Caseworkers should be recognized for their efforts and accomplishments. They also need support and encouragement for risking new actions/behaviors.
- Encouraging retention and transfer. Obviously, caseworkers need to practice the desired behavior more than once. They also need continuous feedback on their progress. Transfer of learning can be accomplished by assigning tasks that actually require application of that learned behavior.

# **Guided Reflection**

Guided reflection is useful to modify and improve caseworker behaviors. The reflection process involves recreating the scene of intervention with a client in order to examine caseworker-client interaction. The supervisor helps the caseworker become more aware of the dynamics in the relationship. Examination of the dynamics begins with guided recall of sequences of interaction (by the supervisor) and moves to self-directed analysis of the feelings and beliefs that underlie that interaction (by the caseworker).

This technique is particularly effective for facilitating self-examination. In recalling a specific situation, the caseworker can discover errors and identify strengths. The supervisor may choose to guide the caseworker in self reflection in the following situations:

- after having reviewed a case record, to point out certain caseworker or client actions or reactions;
- when a caseworker is giving a verbal account of a situation;
- when a caseworker seeks the supervisor's input in solving a problem in a case; and
- when a caseworker has completed a difficult home visit or interview.

The guided reflection process is similar to showing home movies. The viewer (supervisor), by making simple observations of the other's (caseworker) behavior, puts in motion a series of reflections and interpretations. This supervisory practice essentially focuses on providing feedback and information.

#### Group Supervision<sup>18</sup>

There are two types of group supervision—unit meetings and case staffing. Both types require a structured setting with a designated task and an agenda.

Essentially, the purposes of a unit meeting are to:

- communicate new policies and procedures,
- discuss matters of general agency/unit concern,

- solve problems and difficulties within the unit,
- share new/innovative practice methods and research,
- provide inservice training, and
- inform caseworkers of relevant community services/events.

Unit meetings are also used to stimulate teamwork.

The purposes of a case staffing are to:

- obtain group input on decision making in a specific case,
- identify alternative methods for dealing with a specific case,
- share new ideas about managing problematic cases,
- provide feedback to caseworkers, and
- develop unit standards regarding various aspects of practice.

In summary, supervisors play a critical role in building staff capacity. They hold the key to opportunities for positive growth among staff. By recognizing that learning occurs in a variety of ways, supervisors can significantly enhance their staff practice knowledge and skills.

# MONITORING CASEWORK PERFORMANCE, ACHIEVEMENT OF CLIENT OUTCOMES, AND UNIT PERFORMANCE<sup>19</sup>

Another critical role of the supervisor is to monitor achievement of key casework activities and outcomes on a case-by-case basis. Monitoring activities and outcomes enables the supervisor to track client progress as well as the caseworker's completion of essential casework functions. In addition, supervisors monitor achievement of casework activities and outcomes across caseloads. Finally, by monitoring the unit to determine if it is achieving its program goals, supervisors can identify trends necessary for planning purposes as well as areas in need of corrective action.

States vary greatly in the availability of computerized systems for collecting and providing data. As appropriate, supervisors should make use of existing reports for monitoring purposes, thus avoiding duplication of effort and freeing the supervisor to focus on gaps in information.

# MONITORING KEY CASEWORK ACTIVITIES AND OUTCOMES

Supervisors monitor key casework activities and outcomes on a case-by-case basis as well as across a caseworker's caseload in order to determine the following:

- if progress toward risk reduction and treating the effects of abuse and neglect of children is being achieved in a steady and reasonable time frame;
- whether the services being provided meet the specific needs of the children and families and build on their strengths;
- whether children and families are being treated with respect and dignity and are integrally involved in the intervention process;
- if casework decisions are accurate and made within required time frames;
- whether all the required casework activities are being successfully accomplished within the required time frames;
- if CPS caseworkers are fulfilling performance expectations;
- areas of positive and problematic caseworker performance; and
- how caseworkers are performing compared with other caseworkers in terms of casework activities/outcomes.

#### **Key Casework Activities and Outcomes**

The following chart lists the critical casework activities (process) and their outcomes (results) that supervisors should monitor at each stage of the CPS process.

# CHART 3

# CRITICAL CASEWORK ACTIVITIES AND OUTCOMES

| CPS PROCESS                         | ACTIVITIES                                | OUTCOMES   |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|
| Intake                              | Gather information from the reporter      | Complete and accurate information<br>from the reporter and collateral<br>sources   |
|                                     | Analyze data                              | Determination regarding appropri-<br>ateness of the report   |
|                                     |   | Determination regarding urgency of report  |
| Investigation/Initial<br>Assessment | Plan the initial assessment/investigation | Determination regarding who will<br>be interviewed, in what order, and<br>which professionals will be involved   |
|                                     | Gather data                               | Accurate and complete information<br>gathered from the child, the family,<br>the alleged perpetrator, collateral<br>sources, reports, evaluations, and<br>records                  |
|                                     | Analyze data                              | Determination of the validity of the report  |
|                                     |   | Determination of the risk of future<br>maltreatment and the child's safety<br>and development of a safety plan   |
|                                     |   | Case disposition—referral for ser-<br>vice or case closure   |
| Child and<br>Family Assessment      | Gather assessment data                    | Accurate and complete information<br>regarding the causes of the mal-<br>treatment and the effects of mal-<br>treatment on the child   |
|                                     | Analyze data                              | Identification of problems/conditions<br>that must change for risk to be<br>reduced or eliminated; treatment needs<br>of child(ren); family strengths; and<br>prognosis for change |
|                                     |   | Consensus with family<br>Assessment report   |
| Case Planning                       | Develop case plan with family             | Identification of goals, services and<br>interventions to achieve goals, time<br>frames for goal achievement, and a<br>determination of responsibilities                           |
| Service Provision                   | Implement service plan                    | Achievement of goals and<br>task/activities to reduce/eliminate<br>the risk of maltreatment and treat<br>the effects of maltreatment   |
| Evaluation<br>of Family Progress    | Reassessment                              | Continue or modify case plan or case closure   |

The key casework activities and outcomes are *what* supervisors must monitor on the case-specific level and caseload level. In order to create a system for monitoring achievement of client outcomes and caseworker performance, supervisors must decide *how* they will collect the data, *how often* they will collect the data, and then *create a system to track* their data collection efforts.

### How to Collect Data

How supervisors collect data on casework activities and related outcomes varies depending on the activity/outcome. The primary data collection methods are:

- review of paperwork,
- discussions with caseworkers (typically in individual conferences),
- · observation of caseworker-client interviews, and
- discussions with clients and other service providers.

For example, a supervisor may review every completed intake referral form for thoroughness of the information collected, the specificity of the information, and the accuracy of any conclusions drawn. That same supervisor may periodically observe his/her caseworkers as they interview the reporters to gather data regarding the caseworkers' sensitivity to reporters, the caseworker's interviewing effectiveness, and the extent to which the caseworker educates the reporter regarding CPS and appropriate reports. Supervisors will also want to review case dictation/narratives and case plans as well as discuss progress toward goals with the worker in case conferences.

#### How Often to Collect the Data

The decision regarding the frequency of data collection efforts is based on how the supervisor plans to use the information. For example, when training a new CPS caseworker, the supervisor may want to review every case plan soon after it is developed for the purpose of providing immediate feedback. The supervisor may also want to observe the caseworker as he/she develops a plan with a family to assess the caseworker's ability to engage the family in the planning process and negotiate tasks. By collecting data on specific casework activities across a caseload, a supervisor may also identify performance problems. In the latter situation, the supervisor should increase the frequency of collection of data on the caseworker's activities to establish a clear and specific understanding of the problem. The supervisor should also review each case at closure to collect data on the reason for closure, the services provided, and length of time the case was open.

### Creating a System for Tracking/Monitoring Efforts

Because they have a variety of responsibilities, it is important that supervisors develop a system to track their monitoring/data collection efforts. These systems are often called "tickler" systems, used to remind the supervisor what data to collect and when as well as previous issues of concern in a case or caseworker performance. The following "tickler" systems are most often used by supervisors to track their monitoring efforts:

- a calendar system (recording what has to be monitored and when);
- a card file system (3 x 5-inch or 5 x 7-inch cards) used to record case-specific data, organized by month or by caseworker; or
- a notebook or file system (whereby case-specific information is recorded on loose-leaf paper and organized by caseworker or by month.)

With the increased availability of personal computers in local agencies, software-driven calendar systems offer new and expanded ways to perform these tasks. In addition, many agencies have computerized tracking systems. For example, Anne Arundel County, Maryland Department of Social Services has adapted a database application format named filePro<sup>TM</sup>. The database is used by supervisors to monitor the flow of work in their units. When each case is received, it is entered into the computer. The substance of the report is entered into the computer as well as the date the case is actually completed. This system is just one example of tracking on the case-specific, caseload, and unit level at the intake/investigation stage of the CPS process. Other data can be collected and monitored at the supervisory level.

Supervisors should meet with the information systems staff in their agency. In addition, two firms, Unisys and Bull, have developed database monitoring or tracking systems commercially available for child welfare agencies. Finally, supervisors can consult computer technicians in software or computer stores for database systems that they can use to monitor casework progress.

### Monitoring the Qualitative Aspects of Casework Practice

One aspect of casework performance that supervisors usually need to monitor more often is the qualitative aspect of casework; that is, how the caseworker relates to and interacts with the client. To help a family change the behavior or conditions that are causing the risk of maltreatment, the CPS caseworker must develop a positive relationship with the family. This means that the caseworker must demonstrate empathy; non-possessive warmth (i.e., respect, concern, and caring); genuineness; objectivity; concreteness (i.e., talking in language the client can understand and providing specific information); and competence (i.e., communicating the caseworker's ability to help the family).

The methods for collecting data on the qualitative aspects of practice include observation of the caseworker-client interaction, review of records, and discussions with the caseworker.

#### **Observation of Caseworker-Client Contact**

Observing caseworker-client contact provides the supervisor with direct information regarding the caseworker's ability to establish positive and effective relationships. This approach also provides information on how the caseworker handles difficult client reactions, for example, hostility or resistance. Behaviors demonstrated by the caseworker should be noted and shared following observation.

#### **Review** of Records

Reviewing case narratives to determine how caseworkers describe the family and the family's situation provides the supervisor with insights on relationship skills. Also, reviewing records to determine the extent to which caseworkers identify client strengths provides clues regarding the quality of the helping relationship.

#### Discussions with Caseworkers

During regular individual conferences, caseworkers typically describe their clients and caseloads. Such descriptions provide supervisors with information on how caseworkers feel about and relate to their clients.

# MONITORING PERFORMANCE ON THE UNIT LEVEL

It is virtually impossible to set up systems to monitor the myriad details involved in CPS activities. Therefore, CPS supervisors are usually most effective when they track a few key items regularly and monitor others as needed. On the unit level, key indicators provide supervisors with data on achievement of program goals, trends across cases and service needs, and problems in need of corrective action.

# **Key Indicators**

Monitoring key unit indicators on a regular basis allows CPS supervisors to identify problems and determine the most appropriate corrective actions. Supervisors and agency administrators can use these data for planning purposes. Also, supervisors can identify issues in need of advocacy on behalf of their unit. In addition, monitoring enables supervisors to provide feedback and recognition to their staff for high-quality job performance.

The indicators listed below are commonly selected for tracking by CPS supervisors. Some of these items may be monitored by the State CPS agency, in which case supervisors would rely upon feedback from the State.

- Number of reports by type of child maltreatment and by age of the child. These data will assist in identifying training issues for staff and will also provide information on the types of interventions and services needed by families. This information can be used for resource development.
- **Relationship of the perpetrator to the victim.** This indicator provides information on care dynamics and needed interventions. As in the previous indicator, it will help identify training needs among staff and areas of resource development.
- **Percentage of report by type of reporter**. This information can be compared to national statistics as well as to data from previous years. If there is a significant difference in percentage between the national statistics and reporters in the local community, or if there is a decrease in the number of reports by a particular mandated reporter, further training, consultation, or relationship building may be required.
- Substantiation rate by maltreatment type and by type of reporter. These data will assist in determining whether public education or training should be provided on a particular type of maltreatment or for a specific professional group. Monitoring the unit's substantiation rate and comparing it to those in similar communities and to State and national averages enables supervisors to determine whether their unit is above, below, or equal to average substantiation rates. When a unit is significantly above or below these averages, the supervisor needs to evaluate why this is occurring. For example, if the unit has a substation rate significantly below the State and national averages, it may mean that staff are not conducting thorough investigations and need additional training or that the community needs more education on child abuse and neglect and the reporting process.
- **Response time to initiate investigations/initial assessments by maltreatment type**. This indicator will provide information on whether caseworkers are meeting the required response time and whether caseworkers are prioritizing reports based on the type of maltreatment. It will highlight for supervisors whether certain maltreatment types are considered less serious by line staff.
- **Primary presenting problems (by family member)**. Data from this indicator will help identify training issues and resource needs. It will also help supervisors make equitable case assignments that are based on caseworker strengths and interests.
- Number of cases opened and closed to CPS. This indicator will provide supervisors with information on the workload in the unit. These data can be used for planning and staffing purposes.
- **Caseload size.** This indicator provides data on each individual caseworker's workload. If some staff have more cases than others, the reasons should be examined closely. Also, supervisors will want to compare the number of cases their workers maintain to the caseloads recommended by the State.

- Number, type, and nature of client and collateral contacts. Data from this indicator will provide information on staff's workload, whether caseworkers are meeting the administrative and policy requirements, and how caseworkers are spending their time.
- Length of time cases are open to CPS. This indicator gives information on workload and needs of families served.
- Types of services families need. These data provide the supervisor with information that he/she can use for planning, resource development, and allocation of funds and staff.
- Number of referrals to community service providers (by type of service provider or by individual service provider). This indicator also provides the supervisor with information needed for resource development and allocation. It also allows the supervisor to determine those service providers used most frequently and why.
- **Reasons for case closure (case outcome)**. This indicator will help supervisors determine whether their interventions are successful. If this indicator tracks by caseload, it can identify those caseworkers with the highest degree of achievement of successful case outcomes.
- Rate of recidivism. This indicator lets the supervisor know the effectiveness of the unit's services and interventions.
- Number of hours of casework involvement by case. This indicator provides data on workload by type of case (e.g., by type of maltreatment or by risks in the case). In addition, if this indicator is combined with the reasons for case closure, the supervisor can begin to track the casework hours needed for successful case outcome.
- Rate of court involvement, type of court involvement, and outcome. Information collected for this indicator will provide data regarding staff workload and an increase or decrease in severity of cases. It can also provide some information regarding availability of resources to prevent removal. If the success rate was low, this may indicate the need for caseworker training on court preparation or testimony for caseworkers, education of judges, or lack of or inadequate agency legal representation. This indicator could be tracked by caseworker and compared across the unit. If one caseworker has a very high incidence of emergency removals or a higher incidence of adjudications than other workers, the supervisor should explore the reasons for these determinations by the particular caseworker. It may be that the caseworker is receiving "all the worst cases." It could be that the caseworker does not treat clients with respect, genuineness, and empathy and, therefore, creates a climate of hostility and resistance. It could also mean that the caseworker does not fully understand how to access families' strengths.
- Rate of children removed from their families and the reasons for removal. This is an extremely important indicator because it can provide information on a change in casework practice, an increase in the severity of cases, or a lack of resources needed to prevent removal.

In summary, supervisors who monitor key activities and outcomes on case-specific and caseload levels stay informed about the progress in cases. In addition, they are able to identify caseworker strengths and training needs. Further, supervisors who monitor indicators on the unit level are able to be more proactive in the management of their unit.

# **RECOGNITION OF PERFORMANCE**

# **PROVIDING EFFECTIVE FEEDBACK**

When asked what is missing in their work environment, caseworkers most frequently identify feedback and recognition. Feedback is the principle means of maintaining and improving staff performance. It confirms desired results, identifies gaps between what the caseworker is doing and what the supervisor expects, and provides information about how to improve results. Without feedback, caseworkers are left to wonder about how the supervisor views them and their performance. As is discussed in the chapter "Increasing Job Satisfaction and Preventing Burnout," one of the first stages in burnout is a lessened sense of personal accomplishment. Without feedback and recognition, the cycle of burnout is hastened.

Feedback meets several underlying personal needs for caseworkers. It affects staff's feelings of self-worth, and it responds to needs for growth. Positive feedback meets staff's needs for intimacy and security. Furthermore, to the extent feedback is more positive than negative, caseworkers feel more secure.

More effective supervisors tend to offer three to five times more positive feedback than negative feedback. When the opposite prevails—an extension of the "no news is good news" philosophy—a supervisor's behavior may be interpreted as indifference or even worse.

# EVALUATIVE AND DEVELOPMENTAL FEEDBACK

There are two types of feedback—evaluative and developmental.

### **Evaluative Feedback**

Evaluative feedback compares results with expectations. It offers an appraisal of the extent to which desired results were achieved. The appraisal may involve objective facts or judgment. For example, telling a case-worker that he/she interviewed all known collateral contacts is objective. On the other hand, telling a case-worker that he/she conducted a thorough evaluation is a statement involving judgment. Both forms of evaluative feedback are appropriate, although feedback involving judgment may be questioned more if it is negative. For this reason, it is important for agencies and supervisors to set expectations with clear evaluation criteria. For example, supervisors need to define for themselves and their caseworkers what constitutes a thorough investigation or an indepth interview.

# **Developmental Feedback**

Developmental feedback identifies what the caseworker did that contributed to or detracted from achieving the expected result. For example, following observation of an interview, a supervisor may tell a caseworker that rapid-fire close-ended questions caused the parent to feel defensive and become uncooperative. The uncooperative posture of the parent is the observed result (evaluative feedback). The rapid-fire questions explain the reason the parent became uncooperative (developmental feedback).

Developmental feedback clearly identifies what led to the results achieved. Sometimes a caseworker may have attained a result but does not know why. Developmental feedback confirms behavior that should be retained and identifies behavior that should be changed. Evaluative feedback alone cannot provide this information. For example, in providing evaluative feedback, a caseworker may be told that his/her assessment is

clear, factual, and behaviorally specific. Although the caseworker knows he/she met the supervisor's standards, he/she may not know why. Further, the caseworker may gratefully accept the positive feedback and not seek further clarification. Alternatively, in providing developmental feedback, the supervisor may say, "The mother's responses during your interview show she has the capacity for insight. You helped her make an important link between how she feels about herself and how she treats her daughter. We need to build on this insight and provide ways for the mother to experience more success both as a person and a parent."

# **CRITERIA FOR EFFECTIVE FEEDBACK**<sup>20</sup>

The following eight distinct qualities determine the effectiveness of feedback. Feedback is:

- Useful, to the extent it provides information that clearly confirms desired behavior, identifies what behavior needs to be changed, or clearly identifies the extent to which results were achieved.
- Specific, to the extent it focuses on objective measures of results or clearly identifies behaviors.
- **Frequent**, if it is provided at least weekly about some aspect of performance related to performance expectations.
- Well-timed, if it is given at a time when the receiver is emotionally able to respond openly to the feedback, and when it is given in a reasonable time frame following the performance.
- **Direct**, to the extent that it is stated specifically and not obscured by irrelevant praise, qualifications, or lengthy explanations justifying the judgment or conclusion.
- Helpful, to the extent that the receiver perceives that the goal of the supervisor is intended to help rather than to harm.
- Behavioral, to the extent it focuses on behavior rather than personality or personal characteristics and does not "label" the individual caseworker.
- Clear, to the extent the supervisor confirms the message of the feedback by asking the receiver how he/she interprets what has just been said.

# CONDITIONS FOR EFFECTIVE FEEDBACK<sup>21</sup>

The receiver's acceptance of feedback, particularly negative, is enhanced when the feedback is:

- clearly tied to previously established expectations;
- derived from credible means of monitoring performance;
- based on observable and verifiable information;
- constructed to exhibit the eight qualities of effective feedback;
- given in the context of a trusting relationship; and
- given within the context of a clear agency/unit purpose, for example, meeting time frames, benefiting clients, or improving relationships.

# SUPERVISORY EFFECTIVENESS IN PROVIDING FEEDBACK

Effectiveness in giving staff feedback is based on supervisors' level of competence (whether they give feedback that meets the criteria described earlier), their past experiences with feedback, their beliefs and attitudes about feedback, and their comfort level in dealing with conflict.

# **Past Experiences with Feedback**

Supervisors' previous experiences in giving and receiving positive and negative feedback have an impact on their ease in providing feedback. For example, not all individuals are comfortable with praise or positive feedback. When uncomfortable with a situation, the same individuals may avoid it or become anxious in handling it. Therefore, if a supervisor is not comfortable with praise, he/she may not give it, or it may not appear genuine.

# **Attitudes and Beliefs about Feedback**

Certain attitudes and beliefs influence how much feedback a supervisor gives to his/her staff. For example, if a supervisor believes that "completing a task should be reward enough" or "only outstanding performance deserves recognition," it is likely the supervisor is not giving enough positive feedback to staff.

# Need To Be Liked and Accepted by Others

Supervisors who have a high need to be liked often find that giving negative feedback is difficult. Negative feedback is perceived as a potential threat to their relationships with staff. Therefore, these supervisors may avoid or postpone giving negative feedback, or they may temper feedback by making it general, rather than specific and thus detract from its usefulness.

# **Comfort with Managing Conflict**

Most people feel uncomfortable in situations involving conflict. Because giving negative feedback is likely to result in some form of conflict, supervisors may postpone or delay giving negative feedback as a way to avoid discomfort. A lack of comfort with conflict may also result in supervisors combining negative feedback with false praise.

By preparing for a situation involving negative feedback, supervisors can feel more comfortable. The content of feedback is developed in advance to ensure that the qualities of effective feedback are present. The feedback techniques are rehearsed. Caseworker reactions are anticipated, and supervisory responses are prepared.

How the supervisor attends to the caseworker's actual reactions is also important. Reflections of the caseworker's thoughts and summarizations of the caseworker's responses should precede the supervisor's explanations. Such statements communicate that the supervisor is listening, rather than just forcing information on the caseworker.

If the interaction becomes defensive, it may be preferable to stop and regroup. The purpose of feedback is to enhance performance. Defensive statements or reactions rarely produce change. Rather, they tend to intensify each person's position and undermine the very intent of feedback.

# **RECOGNIZING PERFORMANCE**

Although feedback is the first and most direct means of recognizing staff performance, there are other to ways reinforce behaviors. Supervisors must remember, however, that singling out staff for special recognition

involves certain risks. Generally, some judgment is involved in making the distinction. Those persons who are not recognized may question both the supervisor's criteria and judgment. The basis for recognition should be clear, specific, and developed within the unit.

Some personal actions that supervisors can use to recognize caseworkers' efforts and accomplishments include the following:

- · taking a caseworker to lunch,
- writing a special note,
- placing a letter in the caseworker's personnel record,
- communicating the caseworker's performance to upper management verbally or in writing,
- using the caseworker's actions as an illustration of how desired case results can be achieved, and
- recommending the caseworker for special education or training opportunities.

Because special recognition is often based on an accumulation of sound performance over time, it may not occur frequently enough to be effective in maintaining performance. For this reason, feedback should never be neglected in favor of other forms of recognition. Recognition is discussed in further detail in "Increasing Job Satisfaction and Preventing Burnout."

# **DEALING WITH PERFORMANCE PROBLEMS**

# ANALYZING PERFORMANCE PROBLEMS

A supervisor's job would be much easier if every employee enjoyed the job, performed excellently, and had an insatiable desire to grow and improve. Unfortunately, all employees don't fulfill these parameters all the time. Dealing with performance problems is an everyday reality in supervision. In CPS, performance problems surface in several ways. Some caseworkers fail to meet Federal, State, and local mandates on a regular basis. Others do not comply with agency personnel policies regarding hours of work. A few are inconsiderate of clients, foster parents, or other service providers. There are some caseworkers who conduct incomplete assessments, exhibit poor writing skills, or do not effectively engage clients. In some situations, performance problems are beyond the caseworker's ability to control or change.

In approaching problems in performance it is easy to make several mistakes. The most common error is concentrating on the symptom rather than the cause. For example, a caseworker may be persistently late in documenting contacts with clients. The missing dictation is the symptom or consequence of the problem, not so much the problem itself. The supervisor defines it as the problem because it is the agency's concern. However, it is likely that some overall factor is influencing this condition.

Ferdinand Fournies suggests a process for analyzing performance problems consisting of the following nine steps:<sup>22</sup>

• Identify the performance discrepancy. A performance discrepancy is a gap between expected performance and existing performance. The gap must be defined behaviorally and in specific terms. Are all cases overdue? Are there only three that are overdue? Does the caseworker miss all dynamics or only misinterpret certain ones?

Some performance discrepancies are consistently present. For example, a caseworker may have trouble accurately assessing a mother's ability to protect her child. In almost all cases, the case worker's conclusion appears to be a guess rather than an assessment based on information from the mother and other relevant sources. This performance problem is far different from that of a case worker who is able to accurately to assess the issue of protection in cases involving neglect but not in those involving abuse.

• Determine that the problem is important. Some behaviors that supervisors identify as problems have no negative consequences. For example, a worker may appear to be extremely disorganized, but still complete case assignments on time. The caseworker's disorganization only seems to be a problem because the supervisor is so well-organized.

But, in this instance, the caseworkers' approach has no real negative results. A real performance problem is a gap in results, and the problem is not likely to go away on its own.

• Does the caseworker know what to do and when to do it? Sometimes supervisors think they have communicated the necessary information for expected performance. However, the information may not have been received or interpreted correctly. For example, a caseworker who was told he/she has 24 hours to initiate an investigation may not understand that some case situations require an immediate response.

• Does the caseworker know that performance does not meet expectations? Without clear feedback, a caseworker may assume that his/her performance is acceptable. A caseworker's extreme assertiveness with clients, for example, may seem to get results because the clients comply with immediate requests. However, the clients are not engaged as partners in the case plan. Without feedback, the caseworker may not see this issue as a performance discrepancy.

Some supervisors are good at giving developmental feedback, but may not provide clear evaluative feedback. For instance, a supervisor may offer advice to improve a caseworker's efforts to gather complete information, but the feedback may not clearly identify why the caseworker's present efforts are insufficient.

- Is the problem due to external obstacles beyond the caseworker's control? Supervisors should understand that they will hear that many obstacles prevent expected performance. Increased case-loads, conflicting priorities, failure of others to act responsibly, and problems gaining judicial acceptance of CPS recommendations are just a few of the reasons caseworkers tend to provide. A good rule of thumb in evaluating obstacles is to ask whether the obstacles exist for all caseworkers in the unit. Do all the caseworkers have problems in court? Do all caseworkers with equal or larger case-load responsibilities have the same problem? Do other staff have the same level of difficulty in gaining client cooperation? If the answer is "no," then it is more likely that the obstacle is due to caseworker performance rather than external conditions.
- Does the caseworker know how to accomplish the necessary tasks? Analyzing skill capabilities requires direct observation. Supervisory conferences and review of case records provide only secondhand information, filtered by the caseworker. Without direct supervisory observation, it is difficult to determine all the conditions affecting performance.

There is a difference between knowing what to do and knowing how to do it. A caseworker may know whom to interview and what questions to ask, but still be unable to obtain accurate information from family members and collateral sources. The caseworker may not know how to build trust needed for disclosure and, although he/she is asking the right questions, he/she may not be eliciting honest responses.

• Does a negative consequence follow performance? Skillful caseworkers often get the most complicated cases. One way to avoid difficult cases is to perform more poorly than expected.

Group norms may also produce negative consequences. A caseworker who is able to do what others cannot risks social ostracism by other unit members. A caseworker who is always up-to-date in paperwork may be excluded from informal interactions by others who are consistently late in completing this task. In addition, a caseworker who works well with an unpopular supervisor may be distrusted by other unit members.

• Is nonperformance rewarded? This is a common condition in units where supervisors focus primarily on problems. Sooner or later staff learn that the way to gain the supervisor's attention is to have a problem. Another example is the caseworker who is anxious about being in certain neighborhoods or clients' homes. Contacts are brief and superficial to reduce the period of anxiety. Hence, the nonperformance is personally rewarding. • Could the caseworker perform if he or she wanted to? Sometimes a caseworker is just not wellsuited for CPS work. No matter how hard he/she tries to meet performance expectations, problems surface. In this situation, a transfer to another unit or leaving the agency for work elsewhere may be appropriate. Personnel policies and/or union contracts usually specify how the supervisor should proceed in such a situation.

# **COACHING FOR IMPROVED WORK PERFORMANCE**

Coaching is necessary to develop proficiency. It is also a tool for dealing with performance problems. When applied to performance, supervisors can use the following six steps to intervene and contract with staff:

• **Be supportive**. The supervisor needs to state in clear behavioral language his/her understanding of the caseworker's situation. This assessment includes the nature of the problem, the supervisor's current understanding of the caseworker's feelings about the problem, the supervisor's objectives and initial offers of support in working toward resolution of the problem, and how the supervisor feels about the problem and helping the caseworker. The goal is to engage the caseworker and communicate that this is a problem-solving process rather than a disciplinary process.

Being supportive does not require accepting the caseworker's explanation of the problem or why it cannot be solved. The supervisor must simultaneously communicate empathy while being firm about the results of the current performance.

• Develop an understanding of what is happening. This step requires active listening. The purpose is not to persuade the caseworker to accept the supervisor's view of the problem, but, rather, to help the supervisor understand the problem from the caseworker's perspective. It is important to understand that the caseworker's current behavior is, itself, an attempt to meet some underlying need. Solving the problem will require discovering the underlying need and finding an alternative to meet that need.

For example, a caseworker may routinely display punitive and judgmental attitudes toward child sexual abuse offenders. Strong emotional reactions to sexual abuse as well as the caseworker's personal history and values are all relevant. Such influences should not be dismissed with statements such as "You need to learn to control your feelings."

• Help the caseworker evaluate how his/her current performance and behavior are affecting personal goals. To the extent that current performance undermines personal goal attainment, there is a basis of motivation on which to build change. This step is designed to develop self-interest in change.

For example, a caseworker may be neglecting dictation in favor of "giving more direct time to clients through personal contacts." The caseworker's goals are focused on the client. However, the caseworker also needs to understand the benefits of paperwork to clients as well as the consequences of incomplete paperwork. In the caseworker's absence, a supervisor, another caseworker, or a judge may have to make a decision based on information available in the case record. In the absence of information known only to the caseworker, a decision may be made that may be contrary to the best interest of a child or parent.

• Create a clear, specific, and feasible plan for change. Once the underlying needs are determined, the supervisor can engage the caseworker in developing goals and future action. This step involves

developing a contract between the supervisor and caseworker that defines clearly what each wants and is willing to offer the other.

Agreements to "work on it," or general goals such as "improve my timeliness," are not acceptable in a case plan and are equally unacceptable in dealing with performance problems. Performance improvement plans must have the same concrete steps and behaviorally defined goals that one would use in planning with a parent or child.

• Followup. Second only to inaccurate assessment of the performance problem, failure to follow through is the most frequent reason difficulties in performance persist. Plans for improvement are made, and the caseworker is left alone to implement them.

In one way or another, the supervisor's behavior contributes to the problem. Getting the caseworker to enhance performance requires that the supervisor also change some part of his/her current behavior.

Although most supervisors intend to follow up, many become busy with other priorities. Some avoid followup because they do not want to confront the lack of improvement. On the other hand, if improvement is evident, they may assume that no followup is needed because the problem is apparently solved. Follow through conveys to the unit that the supervisor cares about results. Failure to follow through suggests that the performance problem is insignificant and that the caseworker need not heed the supervisor's feedback.

• **Provide feedback**. Sustaining changes in performance requires supervisory encouragement and positive feedback. Therefore, the supervisor should provide both evaluative and developmental feedback on an ongoing basis to sustain the improvements in the caseworker's performance.

#### **Dealing with Caseworker Resistance**

In dealing with performance problems and coaching for enhanced performance, the supervisor may encounter resistance on the part of the caseworker. Resistance is an emotional process. No amount of rational argument by a supervisor can overcome it. In fact, efforts to overcome resistance usually intensify it. Supervisors know resistance is an issue when they:

- feel increased tension,
- · reexplain something for the third time,
- get angry at the caseworker, or
- feel frustrated.<sup>23</sup>

Caseworkers communicate resistance by:

- avoiding responsibility for the problem,
- flooding the supervisor with details,
- changing the subject,
- acting unusually silent,

- showing premature compliance,
- attacking the supervisor verbally,
- pressing for solutions rather than actually trying to understand the problem, and
- claiming that the supervisor does not yet fully understand the situation.

Resistance is the caseworker's way of expressing underlying feelings of vulnerability and loss of control. These feelings require emotional rather than intellectual reassurance. In other words, if the supervisor responds by providing a logical explanation of the problem and a proposed solution, he/she is responding to the thinking, not the feeling, component of the caseworker's experience.

As a preferred alternative, Peter Block recommends the following three-step process for dealing with feelings associated with resistance:<sup>24</sup>

- Identify the form the resistance is taking. The form of the resistance is evident in the casework er's behavior. For example, the caseworker may be silent, flood the supervisor with specifics, or verbalize agreement but communicate anger nonverbally.
- State in a neutral, nonpunitive way the form the resistance is taking. This can be accomplished through statements to the caseworker such as "You seem to be giving me a lot of detail," or "You were raising many objections, but now you suddenly agree with me."
- Be quiet. Let the caseworker respond to the statement.

Remaining quiet can be very difficult. Sometimes a supervisor's anxiety about silence causes him/her to continue speaking, usually offering further, often unnecessary explanations. Supervisors must fight the inclination to talk. Silence is a necessary part of getting the caseworker to express underlying concerns, such as, "I'm afraid you're going to blame me for this." Here, the caseworker is expressing vulnerability. He/she perceives the situation as one of placing blame rather than finding a solution. Once the reason for the resistance is understood, the supervisor can acknowledge and deal with it.

It is always important to remember that the caseworker's resistant behaviors are not personal attacks on the supervisor. Defensive and resistant reactions are signs that the supervisor has touched on an especially significant issue. It is equally important to remember that change always creates feeling of vulnerability. Direct expression of these feelings is not resistance. When a caseworker says "I'm not sure I can do that," the caseworker is directly expressing a fear. On the other hand, when the caseworker repeatedly says "You still don't understand the problem. Let me give you more information," the caseworker may be demonstrating resistance.

Managing performance problems is one of the most difficult aspects of supervision. The greater the extent to which the supervisor determines the cause of the problem and engages in coaching the caseworker to improved performance, the more likely it will be that the supervisor will experience success in dealing with problems in performance.

# INCREASING JOB SATISFACTION AND PREVENTING BURNOUT

Two factors have a significant impact on staff motivation to perform—the organizational climate and job satisfaction. The organizational climate and its influence on staff motivation were discussed earlier in "Developing the Foundation for Unit Performance." This chapter focuses on job satisfaction and its influence on motivation. Additionally, because stress is inherent in CPS work, this chapter discusses burnout and strategies for its prevention.

# FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO JOB SATISFACTION

Through numerous studies, Herzberg developed a theory of work motivation that he referred to as "the motivation-hygiene theory." According to Herzberg, the following factors increase job satisfaction and staff motivation to perform:

- achievement,
- recognition for accomplishment,
- challenging work,
- increased responsibility, and
- growth and development.<sup>25</sup>

Each of these factors is described below, along with ways CPS supervisors can enhance these factors in their units.

### Achievement

Achievement is a sense of accomplishment or successful closure of a task or activity. Supervisors can enhance caseworkers' sense of achievement on the job by:

- encouraging caseworkers to set professional goals,
- setting goals with individual caseworkers regarding specific casework activities,
- establishing unit goals, and
- gradually increasing the complexity of assignments so that caseworkers are challenged and experience success in more difficult situations.

# Recognition

Recognition is the acknowledgment of an individual's or group's efforts, accomplishments, or contributions. There are many ways supervisors can recognize staff efforts and accomplishments, including the following:

- Highlight staff efforts and contributions in unit meetings.
- Celebrate client success and the caseworker's contributing efforts.

- Let a caseworker know verbally and/or in writing that his/her work is appreciated; (e.g., memos, with a pat on the back, or by notes placed on completed paperwork).
- Give awards, certificates, or other commendations for specific accomplishments and contributions.
- Encourage community service providers who compliment CPS staff to put the praise in writing for placement in the caseworker's personnel file, with a copy forwarded to upper-level administrators.
- Give a genuinely positive performance evaluation.
- Promote staff or encourage them to apply for promotions.
- Allow and encourage staff to attend specialized training programs and conferences.
- Hold award dinners or lunches.
- Hold staff retreats.

When caseworkers are recognized for their efforts and accomplishments, they experience positive feelings about themselves and their professional competence, which create an increased sense of self-worth.

### **Challenging Work**

For work to be satisfying, there must be tasks that are challenging or motivating. Just as each individual prefers some tasks more than others, each finds some tasks more challenging than others. It is important for supervisors to identify with their staff the tasks or activities they find challenging. The following are activities that caseworkers may find challenging:

- specialized caseloads (e.g., sexual abuse cases);
- public speaking (e.g., educating community service providers);
- participating on a multidisciplinary team;
- coordinating a new service program; and
- serving as a liaison to a community service provider.

#### Responsibility

When caseworkers feel responsible and accountable for their own work, their job satisfaction increases. Strategies for enhancing responsibility and accountability include the following:

- gradually increasing staff autonomy in casework activities and decision making as caseworkers gain expertise;
- giving caseworkers the freedom to be creative;
- identifying the decisions that the individual caseworker and the unit can make alone and the decisions that they can be involved in making;
- requesting that a particular caseworker be in charge when the supervisor is away from the office;

- asking an experienced caseworker to model specific aspects of practice for a new CPS caseworker (e.g., the experienced caseworker may demonstrate effective interviewing techniques for a child victim); and
- encouraging caseworkers to contribute to the agenda for unit meetings.

# **Growth and Development**

Everyone needs to continue to grow and develop personally and professionally on the job. When there are limited opportunities for growth and development, motivation wanes. Caseworkers may commit energy to other aspects of their personal lives, seek other employment, or burn out. Some strategies for encouraging caseworker growth and development include the following:

- encouraging caseworkers to attend local, State, regional, and national training programs and conferences, followed by presentations at unit meetings about what they learned;
- encouraging or advocating educational or special training leave for staff;
- maintaining and updating a unit library and encouraging staff to read books and articles relevant to the job;
- keeping staff informed about current research and issues as well as new intervention techniques and advances in the field of child protection;
- assigning cases and tasks that challenge caseworkers' growth and promote their professional development; and
- encouraging creativity and innovation among staff.

# PREVENTING BURNOUT<sup>26</sup>

Burnout is a syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishment. It is a response to the chronic emotional strain of dealing with others who are troubled. Burnout is considered a type of job stress. However, what is unique about burnout is that the stress is caused by the social interaction between the helper and the client.

# **Emotional Exhaustion**

A pattern of emotional overload and subsequent emotional exhaustion forms the basis for burnout. Staff may become overly involved emotionally, overextend themselves, and feel overwhelmed by the demands imposed by their clients.

Staff feel drained and "used up." They may lack the energy to face another workday. Their emotional resources are depleted, and there is no visible source of replenishment. Once emotional exhaustion sets in, staff feel unable to give of themselves to others. They may reduce their involvement with other individuals. For example, caseworkers may structure their contact with clients to the bare minimum to get the job done. In addition, they may emotionally distance themselves from clients, particularly those whose needs and demands are overwhelming.

### Depersonalization

As staff become more and more detached, they may develop a callous and even dehumanizing response to clients. This behavior marks the second aspect of burnout—depersonalization. Staff may develop an increas-

ingly negative attitude toward the people they are supposed to help. For example, a caseworker may refer to clients in derogatory terms, lack civility, ignore client requests, or fail to provide needed or appropriate help.

#### **Reduced Personal Accomplishments**

Feeling negatively about clients can eventually turn inward. Staff may feel distress or guilt about the way they have thought about or treated clients. They feel they are becoming cold and uncaring, and they typically express a sense of inadequacy about their ability to work with clients. They may feel a sense of failure. "I guess I'm just not cut out for this kind of work!" is a typical reaction. Consequently, their self-confidence and self-concept are undermined and they may begin to experience depression. At this point, some staff seek counseling, whereas others change jobs.

#### **Causes of Burnout**

Burnout usually occurs because of organizational factors rather than because of the individual. There are a variety of organizational factors that may contribute to burnout, including the following:

- excessively high caseloads;
- excessive and continuous direct contact with clients;
- inadequate training and preparation for the job;
- lack of the necessary resources or tools to do the job;
- lack of time to take "emotional breathers";
- no opportunity to share personal feelings with colleagues;
- no access to a professional support system;
- no system for caseworkers to "fill in" for each other;
- lack of positive feedback and recognition;
- lack of trust, openness, and autonomy within the unit or agency;
- lack of role clarity; and
- tendency to blame staff rather than look for solutions when crises or problems occur.<sup>27</sup>

### Signs and Symptoms of Burnout

Burnout does not happen overnight. It is a gradual process. The behaviors caseworkers develop to cope with excessive stress undermine service delivery. The negative feelings produced by the descending spiral of energy find targets in the agency, the clients, or even the caseworkers themselves.<sup>28</sup> Although many individuals tend to think of burnout as a psychological response, research indicates that there are also specific physiological responses.<sup>29</sup> Consequently, there are both psychological and physiological symptoms indicative of caseworker burnout.

#### Feelings Associated with Burnout

Individuals suffering from burnout are usually acutely aware of their feelings, which are usually intense. Caseworkers experiencing burnout may feel the following:

- inability to be effective in their job;
- that clients demand more than caseworkers can give and that nothing they do is good enough;
- unappreciated by clients, the agency, and coworkers;
- anxiety and dread at having to go to work;
- continually fatigued, even when they get enough sleep;
- a sense of boredom all or most of the time;
- guilty; and
- hopeless, powerless, and futile.

#### Behaviors Associated with Burnout

Most behaviors associated with burnout are impaired distancing mechanisms.<sup>30</sup> Caseworkers experiencing burnout may exhibit the following:

- irritability (e.g., express anger easily and have difficulty dealing with clients and coworkers);
- physical ailments, (e.g., frequent colds, headaches, backaches, and intestinal distress);
- deterioration in performance (e.g., miss appointments, fail to complete paperwork or required home visits, etc.);
- increasing rejection of clients evidenced by
  - -excessive use of derogatory comments or labels to describe clients or
  - -blasé or callous view of client situations (i.e., lack of empathy);
- continuous use of inappropriate or distasteful humor;
- psychological distancing from clients, coworkers, and even family and friends (e.g., taking extreme measures to avoid supervision, missing staff meetings, or failing to participate in unit activities);
- rigid adherence to bureaucratic rules;
- apathy;
- excessive absences from work; and
- excessive use of alcohol or tobacco and use of illegal drugs.<sup>31</sup> <sup>32</sup>

One obvious symptom of caseworker burnout in an agency or unit is a high rate of staff turnover. Currently, CPS literature and research do not define a standardized measure of "high staff turnover." However, an average of less than 2 years on the job probably indicates higher than normal stress and suggests that supervisors and administrators should strive to improve the work environment.<sup>33</sup>

#### **Agency's Role in Preventing Burnout**

The three most effective antidotes to burnout are sound management, positive work climate, and ample caseworker support and recognition. Specific agency/unit strategies for preventing burnout include the following:

- varying tasks in the daily work routine;
- instituting flex time;
- developing a team approach for case intervention;
- making the office as pleasant and cheerful as possible;
- maintaining a free flow of information within the agency;
- encouraging staff to openly share concerns about their work and taking steps to problem solve together;
- involving staff in the decisions that directly affect them;
- recognizing staff efforts and contributions;
- streamlining paperwork;
- educating the community about the roles and responsibilities of frontline staff;
- providing a forum for dealing with major issues within the agency and the unit; and
- establishing ongoing support groups to help supervisors and caseworkers discuss freely their feelings and reinforce attitudes of concern for each other and for clients.<sup>34</sup> <sup>35</sup>

### Supervisors' Role in Preventing Burnout

With administrative support, the supervisor can institute many of the strategies described above in his/her unit. Additional strategies supervisors can employ to prevent burnout among staff include the following:

- recognizing client accomplishments, no matter how small, and linking them to caseworker efforts;
- providing specific, positive, and genuine feedback;
- providing carefully graduated levels of staff responsibility and autonomy;
- teaching time management skills;
- teaching and encouraging use of stress management techniques;
- helping staff set priorities among often competing expectations;
- encouraging self-care (taking time off, encouraging physical exercise);

- advocating unit needs;
- ensuring that staff have the necessary knowledge, skills, and resources to do the job;
- enforcing firm guidelines regarding overtime and caseload size;
- giving staff opportunities to discuss their feelings and concerns;
- · demonstrating empathy to the needs and feelings of staff;
- encouraging collaboration and teamwork; and
- observing staff behavior for possible signs and symptoms of burnout and intervening, as appropriate, to reduce the source of stress.<sup>36</sup>

In summary, CPS supervisors play a significant role in enhancing the satisfaction staff experience in the workplace. Further, by being attuned to and implementing strategies for preventing burnout among their staff, supervisors can create and maintain a high level of unit functioning.

# MAKING THE TRANSITION FROM CASEWORKER TO SUPERVISOR

All caseworkers who are promoted to supervisor share some common experiences. For the most part, they are rarely prepared for these experiences. Each person's first experiences with supervision come as children in families, thus, the transition from childhood to parenthood offers some helpful parallels.

Many new parents either decide never to parent the way they were reared or decide to emulate their parents because that is the only way they know. Such reversal and blind modeling are ways of addressing the uncertainty inherent in the experience of a new role.

Caseworkers who become supervisors for the first time often react similarly. They may vow never to do what their supervisor did or seek to emulate a previous supervisor. The fallacy of either premise is that the new supervisor has immediately forgotten one of the first lessons of casework. Each person is an individual with unique needs. Hence, each caseworker requires a somewhat different supervisory approach.

Consequently, one of the most critical first steps in supervision is similar to the first step in casework assessment. In this case, assessment means determining what each caseworker needs in the supervisory relationship to be able to do the job. Some caseworkers require more feedback than others. Likewise, some individuals need more information. Whether the supervisor believes the individual "should" need these things is not important. Meeting these needs is the key to influencing caseworker behavior, and influencing caseworker behavior is the key to effective supervision.

The assessment process also considers the reaction of individual staff to a new supervisor. Caseworkers naturally feel vulnerable when a new supervisor enters the unit. The predictable pattern of interaction with the previous supervisor—no matter how ineffective—is being replaced. Factors influencing a caseworker's response to a new supervisor are raised in the following questions:

- Was the supervisor a caseworker in the unit before being promoted?
- Was the supervisor a caseworker in the agency before being promoted?
- Does the supervisor have previous CPS experience?
- What is the age and professional experience of the supervisor compared with that of the caseworkers in the unit?
- What is the environment or climate in the agency unit or organization at the time the supervisor moves into the unit?

# **RELATIONSHIPS PRIOR TO TRANSITION**

Perhaps one of the most difficult role transitions is from unit peer to supervisor. Before examining the pitfalls, there are some strengths in this situation. First, as a member of the unit, the supervisor has direct knowledge of the individual caseworkers, their personalities, individual needs, and levels of skill and job satisfaction. Second, the supervisor has some idea of how the unit is viewed within the agency and community as well as its strengths and needs. Finally, the supervisor has probably considered the question, "What if I were supervisor?" and has some initial thoughts about what elements to preserve and what situations to try to change. However, when moving from a peer to a supervisory relationship, the new supervisor must be clear about how he/she expects the relationship to remain the same and how he/she expects it to change, what the supervisor now needs from the unit, and what he/she is prepared to offer in return. Most new supervisors never take the time to work through such issues of transition. Rather, they attempt to carry out the supervisory role while maintaining patterns of peer interaction.

Maintaining a peer relationship with caseworkers will inevitably lead to role conflict. Staff expect leadership in the supervisory role, not just another person to "share the load." Failure to exercise leadership creates insecurity among the staff.

Supervisors who have been members of the unit still can make two common mistakes in exercising leadership. Supervisors uncomfortable with closeness in relationship may rely excessively on the formal authority of the role. This leadership style distances the supervisor from former peer relationships and emphasizes the supervisor's authority. In contrast, supervisors, who are feeling insecure in their new role and depend on closeness in relationships for reassurance, may rely excessively on nurturing staff. Although the nurturing may be welcome initially, staff will begin to doubt the supervisor's ability to make difficult decisions; for example, deciding who deserves a merit increase in salary.

Supervisors promoted from within the unit also face other difficulties. Some members of the unit may believe they deserved the promotion and resent being passed over. Although other staff members may not have aspired to the position, they may feel threatened by a younger or less experienced person as supervisor. Again, it is important to assess every individual's reaction to the change in the relationship and renegotiate the conditions of the relationship accordingly.

Whereas the situation of a caseworker promoted to supervise another unit may offer some freedom from the friend-to-supervisor transition, it does not reduce the insecurity felt by staff. Staff typically question whether the superior really understands the CPS mission. In supportive agencies, new supervisors receive training in management before the change in roles. They may also be coached by middle managers in their new role. Supervisors can take the following steps to ease the transition:

- Meet with their immediate manager to clarify the manager's expectations; the information the supervisor needs to communicate on a regular basis; a structure for meeting with the manager; and the manager's assessment of the unit's current functioning, including strengths and needs; any immediate initiatives the supervisor is expected to undertake; and sources of supervisory support.
- Assess the current functioning of the unit and of individual caseworkers, develop goals for the unit, and determine what is needed to achieve these goals.
- Determine what is personally expected of the caseworkers in the unit and meet with caseworkers individually and as a group to discuss monitoring and performance criteria.
- Follow through. Many new supervisors announce hopes, dreams, and plans to staff and then never follow through with the actions promised. The first step in establishing staff trust is achieved by fulfilling promises through action.
- Remember that good supervision is proactive rather than reactive. Supervisors must anticipate needs and act to meet them. Not all needs can be anticipated, but a strategic focus can be maintained with in the unit. Caseworkers rely on their supervisors for a broad view of issues and a plan for future unit direction.

# LACK OF EXPERIENCE IN CPS

If inexperienced in child protection work, new supervisors should adhere to the following:

- Immediately develop a plan for professional growth. For example, the supervisor may need to learn how to assess risk and safety or learn about State law and policy in CPS cases, services available, general dynamics of child abuse and neglect, and criteria for removal of children from their homes.
- Be honest about what he/she doesn't know.
- Acknowledge his/her professional development needs to staff and determine how the unit can assist in case decision making.
- Accelerate personal learning. Much information must be learned in a short period of time. In accepting the position without the technical expertise needed for the job, the supervisor must also accept responsibility for the extra effort needed to acquire expertise quickly.

# **ADDITIONAL FACTORS**

Two other factors influence a supervisor's initial experiences in the unit. One is the age and work experience of the caseworkers in the unit compared to that of the supervisor. When large gaps in age or work experience exist, it is probably best for the supervisor to acknowledge these differences with staff. In addition, supervisors should encourage staff to express the feelings they have about being supervised by a manager who is younger or less experienced, etc.

The second factor influencing a supervisor's initial experiences is the current climate and culture of the unit. When the work environment is positive, there will be increased expectations for the incoming supervisor. The new supervisor will have to work through staff loyalties to a well-liked and respected predecessor. On the other hand, staff difficulties with the predecessor most likely generated powerful negative feelings. Such feelings will have to be worked through to produce an improved work environment.

In either case, accurate initial assessment of individual and group needs is extremely important. As with families in which neglect has been chronic, caseworkers who have experienced deprivation of their professional needs will require consistent and persistent attention before patterns of behavior and feelings will change.

# MANAGEMENT, TRAINING, AND SUPPORT

As stated previously, most CPS supervisors are promoted to that position from caseworker. Training, guidance, or support for their new role may be minimal, making the transition difficult. This chapter examines some strategies to help supervisors make the transition a smoother process.

# TRAINING

Supervisors, as is the case for caseworkers, should receive preservice training from the agency to prepare them for their supervisory functions. They should also receive ongoing inservice training to ensure that they continue to manage their staff effectively.

In the past, child welfare supervisors primarily received training on the various aspects of casework practice. Currently, many States provide their CPS supervisors with training designed to enhance their knowledge and skills in the critical areas of supervisory or management effectiveness. Some staff development and training units in State social services agencies develop their own supervisory curriculum and provide training to staff. Other States contract with national organizations that have existing child welfare supervisory and management training programs. Some of these organizations are listed in Appendix A.

Supervisors can also benefit from graduate-level courses on supervision offered by schools of social work. In addition, there are numerous management seminars offered throughout the United States that focus on specific aspects of management effectiveness (e.g., motivating employees, handling performance problems, giving feedback, managing conflict, team building, etc.). Further, many excellent publications are available that can help enhance overall supervisory effectiveness (see the Bibliography for sample resources).

# MANAGEMENT

In order for the agency or unit to operate efficiently and for supervisors to be successful, CPS supervisors must have a clear understanding of what is expected of them and what they can expect from their managers. Managers should always be specific about supervisory performance expectations. Because the role and responsibilities of the middle-level agency managers are often vague, CPS supervisors should seek clarification, whenever necessary.

It is important for CPS supervisors to be aware of what they need from the agency to be effective. Supervisors need guidance, direction, feedback, and a sounding board, regardless of their level of experience. Some supervisors meet this need by meeting on a regular basis with other child welfare supervisors for consultation and support.

### 37

# STRESS MANAGEMENT

Stress is the nonspecific response of one's body to any demand made upon it. Stress is anything that threatens us, prods us, scares us, worries us, or thrills us. Stress is anything that energizes or creates tension for our bodies. When stress increases, the body starts preparing for action. Certain physiological changes occur—the heart beats faster, breathing becomes more rapid, and adrenaline is pumped into the blood stream. These and other changes are the "fight or flight" protective mechanism. If a person was out of view while his/her bodily functions were monitored (whether he/she became very happy, sad, or scared), the observer would not be able to distinguish the feelings the person was experiencing. The physical reactions would be the same for each emotion.

Everyone experiences stress in almost every daily activity. Without stress, humans wouldn't move, think, or get out of bed. Every person needs stress; it provides energy and enhances productivity. However, excessive amounts of stress can be debilitating. To manage personal stress and help staff deal with stress, supervisors must be aware of on-the-job stressors, understand how they and their staff respond to the stressors, and determine how to use stress reduction techniques to reduce the stress.

A person's response to stress on the job can be influenced by any or all of the following factors:

- tolerance to physical and psychological stressors,
- the amount of stress in his/her personal life,
- general health,
- · amount of regular physical exercise,
- nutritional habits, and
- disposition and personality.

Equally important is how the person views the stressful situation. Events in and of themselves are neutral. It is a person's perception of the situation that make it stressful. Thus, each individual responds to situations differently. Situations at work that seem overwhelming and highly stressful to one person may provide exactly the challenge another staff person may be seeking.

#### **Recognizing Internal Symptoms of Stress**

Each person responds to stressful situations differently; therefore, it is important to understand how each of us deals with the stress we experience. Some people exhibit physical reactions—they perspire, feel "jittery," their muscles tense. Other people react to stress psychologically—they are preoccupied with worrisome thoughts or see pictures of "impending doom." Still other individuals demonstrate both physiological and psychological reactions to stress.

It is important for supervisors to determine how each staff member reacts to stress and assist the individual to implement the most appropriate techniques that reduce physical or psychological reactions to stress.

#### **Proactive Approach to Stress Management**

Stress is inevitable in the field of CPS. Thus, it is important for supervisors to know how they respond to both the stressors and techniques for stress reduction. It is also important to take a proactive approach to stress management—to engage in activities to prevent the build up of stress. Such techniques include the following:

- Vary tasks in the routine work schedule.
- Make the office pleasant and cheerful.
- Develop a strong teamwork atmosphere within the unit.
- Establish an open and trusting work environment.

- Establish networks of support.
- Streamline paperwork.
- Use time management techniques.
- Take time off from work.
- Delegate tasks that others can do.
- Solicit both positive and negative feedback from staff and upper management.

By demonstrating and encouraging a proactive approach to stress management, supervisors can serve as a role model for staff in learning how to take better care of their physical and psychological well-being.

# **SUMMARY**

The CPS supervisor plays a critical role in assuring that children are protected from harm and families receive competent and timely services. The CPS supervisor establishes the foundation for both unit and staff performance, monitors performance, and takes action when performance is effective or is not achieved.

Managing caseworkers is very different from providing direct services to CPS clients. To be effective in their role, supervisors need to learn what makes an effective manager, assess their own strengths and needs against standards of management practice, and develop a plan for enhancing their supervisory skills.

# **APPENDIX** A

## **National Supervisory Training Curriculum**

## Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision

National Child Welfare Resource Center on Administration and Management Muskie Institute University of Southern Maine 96 Falmouth Street Portland, ME 04103

AND

American Humane Association 63 Inverness Drive, East Englewood, CO 80112

## **Supervisory Effectiveness Training**

Child Welfare Institute 1365 Peachtree Street, NE Atlanta, GA 30309

## **Training for Human Services Supervisor**

College of Social Work University of South Carolina Columbia, SC 29208

# NOTES

- 1. T. Tatara, "VCIS Research" (Washington, DC: American Public Welfare Association, August 1992).
- 2. D. Cartwright and A. Zander, eds., *Group Dynamics: Research and Theory*, 2nd ed. (Evanston, IL: Row, Peterson and Co., 1960).
- 3. P. Hersey and K. H. Blanchard, *Management of Organizational Behavior*, 3rd ed. (Inglewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1977), 94.
- 4. *Ibid.*
- 5. R. Likert, New Patterns of Management (New York: McGraw Hill, 1967), 7.
- 6. Hersey and Blanchard, *Management of Organizational Behavior*, 103–104.
- 7. T. M. Rand; J. T. Mahoney; and F. C. Mahoney, *Management Effectiveness Analysis Technical Considerations* (Portland, ME: Management Research Group, 1990).
- 8. T. Morton and D. DePanfilis, *Supervisory Effectiveness in Child Welfare* (Atlanta, GA: Child Welfare Institute, 1987).
- 9. P. Block, *The Empowered Manager* (San Francisco, CA: Josey-Bass Publishers, 1990), 102.
- 10. *Ibid.*, 105.
- 11. A. Zander, Making Groups Effective (San Francisco, CA: Josey-Bass Publishers, 1983), 2.
- J. R. Ballew; M. K. Salus; and S. Winett, Supervising Child Protective Workers, The User Manual Series (Washington, DC: National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect, 1981); D. Schmidt, "Supervision: A Sharing Process," Child Welfare 41(July 1973):7; and M. Salus and C. Ragan, Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision (Portland, ME and Denver, CO: University of Southern Maine and The American Humane Association, 1990).
- 13. Salus and Ragan, Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision.
- 14. Ibid.
- 15. D. Brannon, "Adult Learning Principles and Methods for Enhancing the Training Role of Supervisors," *The Clinical Supervisor* 3(Summer 1985).
- 16. A. Goldstein and M. Sorcher, Changing Supervisory Behavior (New York: Pergamon Press, 1974).
- 17. Morton and DePanfilis, Supervisory Effectiveness in Child Welfare.
- 18. M. Salus and C. Ragan, *Supervision in Child Protection* (New York: Human Resources Administration, 1986).

- 19. Adapted, with permission, from M. Salus, *Control and Its Relationship to Child Welfare Supervision*, New York State Department of Social Services (Atlanta, GA: Child Welfare Institute, 1990).
- 20. Morton and DePanfilis, Supervisory Effectiveness in Child Welfare.
- 21. *Ibid*.
- 22. F. Fournies, *Coaching for Improved Work Performance* (Philadelphia: Liberty Press, 1978).
- 23. P. Block, Flawless Consulting (San Diego, CA: University Associates, 1981).
- 24. *Ibid.*
- 25. F. Herzberg; B. Mausner; and B. Snyderman, *The Motivation to Work* (New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1959).
- 26. C. Maslach, The Burnout Syndrome.
- 27. Salus and Ragan, Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision.
- 28. M. Bramhall and S. Ezell, "How Burned Out Are You?" Public Welfare (Winter 1981):23-27.
- 29. R. Kahn, "Job Burnout: Prevention and Remedies," *Public Welfare* 36(1978):61; and P. Proctor, "How to Survive Today's Stressful Jobs," *Washington Post*, June 17, 1979.
- 30. Bramhall and Ezell, "How Burned Out Are You?" 23–27.
- 31. *Ibid.*; and Salus and Raga, *Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision*.
- 32. K. Drews and I. Hare, *Worker Burnout in Child Protective Services* (Washington, DC: National Professional Resource Center on Child Abuse and Neglect, American Public Welfare Association and National Association of Social Workers, 1979).
- 33. *Ibid.*
- 34. *Ibid.*
- 35. Salus and Ragan, *Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision*.
- 36. *Ibid.*
- 37. Salus and Ragan, *Mastering the Art of Child Welfare Supervision*.

# **GLOSSARY OF TERMS**

Adjudicatory Hearings - held by the juvenile and family courts to determine whether a child has been maltreated or whether some other legal basis exists for the State to intervene to protect the child.

**Burnout** - syndrome that manifests itself in symptoms of physical illness or fatigue, emotional exhaustion, a sense of failure in personal accomplishment, and depersonalization of social and professional interactions.

CASA - court-appointed special advocates (usually volunteers) who serve to ensure that the needs and interests of a child in child protection judicial proceedings are fully protected.

Case Plan - the casework document that outlines the outcomes and goals necessary to be achieved to reduce the risk of maltreatment.

**Case Planning** - the stage of the CPS case process whereby the CPS caseworker develops a case plan with the family members.

Child Neglect - the failure of a parent or caretaker responsible for the child's care to provide minimally adequate food, clothing, shelter, supervision, and/or medical care for the child.

**Child Protective Services (CPS)** - the designated social service agency (in most States) to receive reports, investigate, and provide rehabilitation services to children and families with problems of child maltreatment. Frequently, this agency is located within larger public social service agencies, such as Dcpartments of Social or Human Services.

**Dispositional Hearings** - held by the juvenile and family courts to determine the disposition of children after cases have been adjudicated such as whether placement of the child in out-of-home care is necessary and what services the child and family will need to reduce the risk of maltreatment and to address the effects of maltreatment.

**Emergency Hearings** - held by the juvenile and family courts to determine the need for emergency protection of a child who may have been a victim of alleged maltreatment.

**Evaluation of Family Progress** - the stage of the child protection case process, following the implementation of the case plan, when the CPS caseworker and other treatment providers evaluate and measure changes in the family behaviors and conditions which led to the child abuse or neglect, monitor risk elimination and reduction, and determine when services are no longer necessary.

**Family Assessment** - the stage of the child protection process when the CPS caseworker, community treatment providers, and the family reach a mutual understanding regarding the most critical needs to be addressed and the strengths on which to build.

**Family Systems Theory** - a view of how family members interact with one another in relationship patterns that promote and/or accommodate the functioning of the family as a unit (or system).

**Family-Focused Intervention** - intervention that includes all family members, rather than focusing on one individual primary care provider. This approach targets the whole family as a dysfunctional unit, not just one individual within that unit.

**Good Faith** - the standard used to determine if a reporter has a reason to "suspect" that child abuse or neglect has occurred. In general, good faith applies if any reasonable person, given the same information, would draw a conclusion that a child "may" have been abused or neglected.

Guardian Ad Litem - legal counsel assigned to represent the best interest of children in juvenile and family court proceedings.

**Immunity** - established in all child abuse laws to protect reporters from civil lawsuits and criminal prosecution resulting from filing a report of child abuse and neglect. This immunity is provided as long as the report is made in "good faith."

**Initial Assessment** - the stage of the child protection case process when the CPS caseworker and other social services personnel determine the validity of the child maltreatment report, assess the risk of maltreatment, and determine the safety of the child and the need for further intervention. Frequently, medical, mental health, law enforcement, and other community providers are involved in assisting in the initial assessment.

**Intake** - the stage of the child protection case process when community professionals and the general public report suspected incidents of child abuse and neglect to CPS and/or the police; CPS staff and the police must determine the appropriateness of the report and the urgency of the response needed.

**Interview Protocol** - a structured format to ensure that all family members are seen in a planned strategy, that community providers collaborate, and that information gathering is thorough.

**Juvenile and Family Courts** - established in most States to resolve conflict and to otherwise intervene in the lives of families in a manner that promotes the best interest of children. These courts specialize in areas such as child maltreatment, domestic violence, juvenile delinquency, divorce, child custody, and child support.

**Liaison** - the designation of a person within an organization who has responsibility for facilitating communication, collaboration, and coordination between agencies involved in the child protection system.

**Multiservice Intervention** - the delivery of a broad range of community services available from multiple providers combined with individual counseling, individual and group parenting education, and family therapy.

**Nonorganic Failure To Thrive** - the condition observed in children whose physical development is recorded at below the third percentile in height or weight for that specific age and for which there is no known medical reason.

**Out-of-Home-Care** - child care, foster care, or residential care provided by persons, organizations, and institutions to children who are placed outside their families, usually under the jurisdiction of juvenile or family courts.

**Paraprofessional** - a trained aide who assists a professional person, such as a teacher or physician.

**Primary Prevention** - activities targeting a sample of the general population to prevent child abuse and neglect from occurring.

**Protocol** - an interagency agreement between CPS and law enforcement that delineates joint roles and responsibilities and establishes criteria and procedures for working together on cases of child abuse and neglect.

**Psychotherapy** - a method of treatment designed to produce a response by mental rather than physical stimulus, it includes the use of suggestion, persuasion, reeducation, reassurance, and support as well as hypnosis and psychoanalysis.

**Reporting Policies/Procedures** - written referral procedures that delineate how to initiate a suspected child maltreatment report and to whom that report should be made. These procedures were established by professional agencies with a mandated responsibility to report suspected child abuse and neglect cases.

**Response Time** - a determination made by CPS and law enforcement after receiving a child abuse report regarding the immediacy of the response needed by CPS or law enforcement.

**Review Hearings** - held by the juvenile and family courts to review dispositions (usually every 6 months) and to determine the need to maintain placement in out-of-home care and/or court jurisdiction of a child.

**Risk Assessment** - the use of checklists, matrices, standardized scales, and other measurement techniques to determine the likelihood that the child will be maltreated in the future.

**Secondary Prevention** - activities that are designed to prevent breakdown and dysfunction among families that have been identified as at risk for child abuse and neglect.

Service/Treatment Plan - the casework document developed between the CPS caseworker and the client that outlines the tasks necessary to be accomplished by all parties to achieve goals and outcomes necessary for risk reduction.

Substantiated/Founded - a CPS determination that credible evidence exists that child abuse or neglect has occurred.

**Termination of Parental Rights** - a legal proceeding to free a child from a parent's legal custody so that the child can be adopted by others. The legal basis for termination of rights differs from State to State, but most consider the failure of the parent to support or communicate with the child for a specified period of time, parental failure to improve home conditions, extreme or repeated neglect or abuse, parental incapacity to care for the child, or extreme deterioration of the parent–child relationship as grounds for termination of parental rights.

**Tertiary Prevention** - treatment efforts designed to address situations in which child maltreatment has already occurred with the goals of preventing child maltreatment from occurring in the future and avoiding the harmful effects of child maltreatment.

**Treatment** - the stage of the child protection case process when specific treatment and services are provided by CPS and other service providers geared toward the reduction of risk of child maltreatment.

**Unsubstantiated/Unfounded** - a CPS determination that credible evidence does not exist that child abuse or neglect has occurred.

# **SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY**

#### **GENERAL OVERVIEWS OF CHILD MALTREATMENT**

- Blick, L.C., and Giller, E., eds. Child Protective Services: A System in Crisis. Proceedings of a Think Tank. Huntsville, AL: National Children's Advocacy Center, 1990.
- DePanfilis, D., and Salus, M. K. Child Protective Services: A Guide for Caseworkers. User Manual Series. Washington, DC: National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect, Government Printing Office, 1992.
- Downing, J. D., Wells, S. J., and Fluke, J. "Gatekeeping in Child Protective Services: A Survey of Screening Policies." *Child Welfare* 69(July–August):357–369.
- Drews, K.; Salus, M.; and Dodge, D. Child Protective Services: Inservice Training for Supervisors and Workers. Training package Prepared by: Creative Associates, Inc., Washington, DC. Supported by: National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect (DHHS), Washington, DC, (105791103) Creative Associates, Inc., Washington, DC. Supported by: National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect (DHHS), Washington, DC, (105791103) undated.
- Ducharme, M., and Lackey, R. Child Sexual Abuse. A Field Guide. Santa Fe, NM: New Mexico State Department of Human Services, n.d.
- Filip, J., Schene, P., and McDaniel, N., eds. *Helping in Child Protective Services*. A Casework Handbook. rev. ed. Englewood, CO: American Association for Protecting Children, 1991.
- Gemmill, P. "Child Abuse Management: The Role of Social Work." In Children at Risk. An Interdisciplinary Approach to Child Abuse and Neglect, edited by R. L. Goldman and R. M. Gargiulo. Austin, TX: Pro-ed, Inc., 1990.
- Haase, C. C., and Kempe, R. S. "The School and Protective Services." *Education and Urban Society* 22 (May 1990):258-269.
- Kaplan, S. R., and Granik, L. A., eds. Child Fatality Investigative Procedures Manual. Chicago, IL: American Bar Association, 1991.
- Layman, R. Child Abuse. Current Issues. vol. 1. Detroit, MI: Omnigraphics, Inc., 1990.
- Mills, C. S., and Ivery, C. "A Strategy for Workload Management in Child Protective Practice." *Child Welfare* 70(January–February 1991):35–43.
- Rightland, S., and Hodge, S. "Agency and Professional Roles and Responsibilities: The Need for Cooperation." In *The Sexual Abuse of Children: Clinical Issues*. vol. 2., edited by W. O'Donohue and J. H. Geer. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., 1992.

3

Roberts, D. "Child Protection in the 21st Century." Child Abuse and Neglect 15(1991):25-30.

Streat, Y.Y. "Case Recording in Children's Protective Services." Social Casework 68(November 1987):553-560.

- Strickland, J. "Risk Reduction Techniques for Child Welfare and Protective Service Programs—Putting in Stop Bells and Whistles." In Liability in Child Welfare and Protection Work: Risk Management Strategies, edited by M. Sprague and R. Horowitz. Washington, DC: American Bar Association, 1991.
- Tooman, P. "Child Sexual Abuse. The Role of Child Protective Services." In Sexual Abuse of Children, edited by A. D. Lopatto and J. C. Neely. New York: New York State Supreme Court, Office of Projects Development, 1991.
- U. K. Department of Health. Child Abuse. A Study of Inquiry Reports 1980-1989. London: HMSO, 1991.
- Walden, T. A., Grisaffe, D., and Deitrich-MacLean, G. "Observing Interactions of Abusive and Nonabusive Dyads: Information Extracted by Accurate and Inaccurate Judges." *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology* 18(1990):241–254.
- Zellman, G. L., and Bell, R. M. The Role of Professional Background, Case Characteristics, and Protective Agency Response in Mandated Child Abuse Reporting. Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation, 1990.

## **TRAINING/EVALUATION**

- Doueck, H. J., Bronson, D. E., and Levine, M. "Evaluating Risk Assessment Implementation in Child Protection: Issues for Consideration." *Child Abuse and Neglect* 16(5):637-646, 1992.
- English, D. J. Impact of Investigations. Outcomes for Child Protective Services Cases Receiving Differential Levels of Service. Olympia, WA: Washington State Dept. of Social and Health Services, January 1991.
- Utah University. ACTION for Child Protection, Charlotte, NC: National CPS Competency-Based Training Project. III. Curriculum for Assessing: Pre-Workshop Study Guide. Salt Lake City, UT: Utah University, Graduate School of Social Work December 10, 1990.
- Utah University. National CPS Competency-Based Training Project. III. Curriculum for Assessing: Workshop and Field Learning Materials. Salt Lake City, UT: Utah University, Graduate School of Social Work, December 10, 1990.
- Wells, S. J., and Anderson, T. L. Model Building in Child Protective Services Intake and Investigation. Final Report. Washington, DC: American Bar Association, Center on Children and the Law, September 1992.
- Wells, S. J., Downing, J., and Fluke, J. "Responding to Reports of Child Abuse and Neglect." In: Assessing Child Maltreatment Reports: The Problem of False Allegations. The Child and Youth Services Series, edited by M. Robin. Binghamton, NY: Haworth Press, Inc., 1991.

## STATE/REGIONAL PROGRAMS

- Alderson, J. G., Corey, M., Cramer, R. E., Jr., DePanfilis, D., et al. Alabama Standard Guidelines for Developing Local Community Protocols for Intervention in Child Sexual Abuse. Charlotte, NC: ACTION for Child Protection, 1990.
- Rhode Island State Department for Children and Their Families. Annual Report of Accomplishments. July 1988–June 1989. Providence, RI: Rhode Island Department for Children and Their Families, March 1990.
- Tatara, T. Children of Substance Abusing-Alcoholic Parents Referred to the Public Child Welfare System: Summaries of Key Statistical Data Obtained From States. Final Report. Washington, DC: American Public Welfare Association, February 1990.

Tennessee State Department of Human Services and Social Services. *Child Abuse Review Team Handbook*. Nashville, TN: Tennessee State Department of Human Services and Social Services, 1990.

## **INTERDISCIPLINARY ISSUES**

- Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect. Child Abuse and Neglect: Critical First Steps in Response to a National Emergency. Washington, DC: Advisory Board on Child Abuse and Neglect, U.S. Government Printing Office, August 1990.
- Besharov, D. J. Combating Child Abuse. Guidelines for Cooperation Between Law Enforcement and Child Protective Services. Lanham, MD: AEI Press, 1990.
- Davidson, H. "CPS Risk Assessment and the Law: Unsettled Issues." In: Summary of Highlights. Fifth National Roundtable on CPS Risk Assessment, San Francisco, CA, June 5–7, 1991. Washington, DC: American Public Welfare Association, June 1992.
- Wilson, C., and Pence, D. Uneasy Alliance. Sexual-Physical Abuse of Children, Proceedings from the Kenosha, WI, meeting of the Family Violence and Sexual Assault Institute. Tyler, TX: Family Violence and Sexual Assault Institute, May 1992; Proceedings Paper.

#### ASSESSMENT METHODS AND TRAINING

- American Public Welfare Association. CPS Risk Assessment Project. Third National Roundtable on CPS Risk Assessment. August 17 and 18, 1989. Summary of Highlights. Washington, DC: American Public Welfare Association, July 1990.
- Costello, T., and Romero, M. A. Supervisory Assessment Methods. Charlotte, NC: ACTION for Child Protection, June 1989.
- Holder, W. M., and DePanfilis, D. Supervisory Guide for Assessing Casework Effectiveness. Denver, CO: American Humane Association, Children's Division, 1984.
- Holder, W., and Costello, T. National CPS Competency-Based Training Project. Supervisory Guide. Salt Lake City, UT: Utah University, Graduate School of Social Work, undated.

# **OTHER RESOURCES**

#### ACTION for Child Protection 4724 Park Road Unit C Charlotte, NC 28203 (704) 529–1080

American Academy of Pediatrics 141 Northwest Point Boulevard P.O. Box 927 Elk Grove Village, IL 60009–0927 (800) 433–9016

#### **American Bar Association**

Center on Children and the Law 1800 M Street, NW Suite 200 Washington, DC 20036 (202) 331–2250

#### **American Humane Association**

American Association for Protecting Children 63 Inverness Drive East Englewood, CO 80122–5117 (303) 792–9900 (800) 227–5242

#### American Medical Association

Health and Human Behavior Department 535 North Dearborn Chicago, IL 60610 (312) 645–5065

## American Professional Society on

the Abuse of Children (APSAC) University of Chicago School of Social Service Administration 969 East 60th Street Chicago, IL 60637 (312) 702–9419 American Psychiatric Association 1400 K Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20005 (202) 682–6000

American Psychological Association 750 First Street, N.E. Washington, DC 20002–4242 (202) 336–5500

## American Public Welfare Association 810 First Street, N.E. Suite 500

Washington, DC 20002 (202) 682–0100

C. Henry Kempe National Center for the Prevention and Treatment of Child Abuse and Neglect University of Colorado Health Services Center Department: of Pediatrics 1205 Oneida Street

Denver, CO 80220 (303) 321–3963

#### Child Welfare League of America (CWLA) 440 First Street, N.E.

Suite 310 Washington, DC 20001 (202) 638–2952

#### Childhelp USA

6463 Independence Avenue Woodland Hills, CA 91367 (800)4-A-CHILD or (800)422-4453

#### **Clearinghouse on Child Abuse and Neglect Information** P.O. Box 1182 Washington, DC 20013

(703) 385–7565

#### Military Family Resource Center (MFRC)

Ballston Centre Tower Three Ninth Floor 4015 Wilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22203 (703) 385–7567

## National Association of Social Workers

750 First Street, N.E. Suite 700 Washington, DC 20002 (202) 408–8600

#### National Center for the Prosecution of Child Abuse 1033 North Fairfax Street Suite 200 Alexandria, VA 22314 (703) 739–0321

#### National Center on

Child Abuse and Neglect (NCCAN) Administration on Children, Youth and Families Administration for Children and Families Department of Health and Human Services P.O. Box 1182 Washington, DC 20013 (703) 385–7565

#### National Child Abuse Coalition

733 15th Street, N.W. Suite 938 Washington, DC 20005 (202) 347–3666

#### National Children's Advocacy Center

106 Lincoln Street Huntsville, AL 35801 (205) 532–3460

## National Committee for Prevention of

Child Abuse and Family Violence 332 South Michigan Avenue Suite 1600 Chicago, IL 60604 (312) 663–3520

#### National Council on Child Abuse and Family Violence 6033 West Century Boulevard Suite 400

Los Angeles, CA 90045 (818) 505–3422 (800) 222–2000

#### National Resource Center on Child Abuse and Neglect American Humane Association

63 Inverness Drive, East Englewood, CO 80122 (800) 227–5242 (303) 695–0811